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•	 EBIT jumps to EUR 7.2 million

•	 Net profit increases to EUR 5.7 million

•	 Revenue at EUR 80.4 million
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2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenue (EUR million) 80.4 82.3 74.5 52.6

EBIT (operating) (EUR million) 6.7 7.1 5.2 4.6

Earnings per share (operating) (EUR) 0.96 1.09 0.79 0.73

EBITDA (IFRS) (EUR million) 12.3 10.8 10.1 9.4

EBIT (IFRS) (EUR million) 7.2 5.5 5.9 5.2

Consolidated profit (IFRS) (EUR million) 5.7 4.5 3.8 4.3

Earnings per share (IFRS) (EUR) 0.65 0.82 0.58 0.69

Non-current assets (EUR million) 48.9 47.1 44.5 11.6

Current assets (EUR million) 34.0 35.4 32.5 28.6

Equity (EUR million) 47.6 42.3 37.0 26.1

Cash and cash equivalents (EUR million) 10.9 9.2 8.8 12.1

Number of employees (annual average) 430 429 411 337

Consolidated Key Figures
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PReFACe

Dear ShareholDerS, employeeS,  
partnerS anD FrienDS oF  SoFting,

Softing had a good year in 2016. And this was 
despite a business environment that was anything 
but perfect. We closed out the year with revenue 
approaching last year’s level at EUR 80.4 million. 

EBIT amounted to EUR 7.2 million for growth 
of just under 30 %. This figure includes a one-off 
effect from the reduction in the variable portion of 
US subsidiary OLDI’s purchase price resulting from 
OLDI’s failure to hit its revenue targets. The posi-
tive one-off effect for Softing amounting to around 
EUR 4 million and the associated decrease in oper-
ating income are linked. If OLDI had met its rev-
enue target as planned, this revenue would have 
produced an earnings contribution of approxi-
mately EUR 2.5 million. 

Operating profit (EBIT adjusted for capitalized 
development services and amortization on these 
as well as effects from purchase price allocation) 
totaled EUR 6.7 million, some 6 % below the pre-
vious year’s figure of EUR 7.1 million. This under-
scores Softing’s earning power despite weakness in 
North America, a core market for Softing due to its 
size and earnings potential. Figures can be found in 
the overview table inside the cover of this report.

Revenue in our Industrial segment, which also 
includes the figures for IT Networks, was EUR 57.6 
million (previous year: EUR 58.7 million), while 
operating EBIT climbed from EUR 4.9 million to 
EUR 6.0 million. This segment’s markets in Europe 
and Asia performed extremely well despite the US 
market’s weakness.

In our Automotive segment, revenue decreased 
slightly from EUR 23.6 million to EUR 22.8 million, 
while operating EBIT dropped from EUR 1.5 mil-
lion to EUR 0.7 million. In addition to the sale of a 
high-margin product for an auto manufacturer in 
the previous year, this was due to higher product 
development costs. Despite successful heavy-duty 
diesel projects, these additional costs could not be 
fully compensated at once.

There is no need at this time to talk at length 
about the political situation, and therefore the 
con ditions, in which our company operates. Any-
one can pick up the daily newspaper and see that 
we are living in a highly volatile environment. The 
EU is still in a weakened position, the UK is hurting 
itself and us with Brexit, and upcoming elections 
in France and Germany have the potential to pro-
pel radical forces into power: The National Front in 
France and the communists known as “Die Linke” 
in Germany, which are partnering with the Social 
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Democrats (drunk with enthusiasm for their now 
sober candidate Martin Schulz) and the no less left-
wing Green party aiming to redistribute double-
digit billions of tax Euros as a supposed good deed. 
In fact, that would quickly spell the end of the cur-
rently positive economic situation in Germany.

And in the United States, there is still no clarity 
about whether Trump is a blessing or a curse to 
the country. In Asia, the potential stemming from 
a dominant and increasingly aggressive China for 
conflict with its neighbors as well as the United 
States could set the scene for a massive political, 
economic and military crisis. The situation in North 
Korea is also explosive – literally. Obama left both 
of these trouble spots to his successor to manage. 
All of this is truly not the environment in which any 
company wishes to do business.

In the current year, the Automotive segment is 
faced with the challenge of successfully complet-
ing two extensive core development projects, 
while simultaneously implementing key customer 
projects on time. Moreover, the aim is to build a 
broad customer base with the Softing diagnostics 
app. A considerable increase in demand is devel-
oping here. Softing measurement technology is 
likewise experiencing a very high level of interest.

In the Industrial segment, we anticipate process 
technology to begin to recover in 2017. In addi-
tion to drilling to maintain existing pipelines, ten-
ders for new pipelines are generating infrastruc-
ture projects in the United States, which will lead 
to growth for OLDI and Softing in the second six 
months and the following year. Larger orders are 
also pending in the manufacturing sector that will 
not be completed until the end of the second quar-
ter due to a lack of availability of components. All 
told, we expect significant growth in North America 
and continued stability in the business in Europe.

At Softing IT Networks, we are heading for double- 
digit growth, which will be bolstered further by 
new products in the second half of the year. We 
are already seeing higher demand as the result of a 
massive increase in marketing and additions to the 

sales team. Thanks to our WireXpert cable  tester, 
we were the first manufacturer to qualify as a tech-
nology leader for the new 40-gigabit CAT 8 stand-
ard, thus giving us broad visibility on the market. 
Our US colleagues even expect revenue with cable 
testers to double, which would position us right 
behind the market leader. Growth is our primary 
goal for IT Networks.

I am confident that Softing will meet all the con-
ditions for mastering this year’s challenges as well. 
Here is what you can expect:

• We project revenue to exceed EUR 80 million 
and EBIT to amount to around EUR 6 million. 
As always, we will provide more detailed guid-
ance as the year progresses.

• We will also further drive non-organic growth to 
close strategic gaps and safeguard our revenue 
from a broader geographical standpoint. 

• Our proposed dividend of EUR 0.20 per share – 
a slight increase – strikes a good balance 
between a distribution for shareholders and 
reserving some for acquisitions.

Dear friends of Softing, my wish is that we may 
together celebrate the attainment of the core 
goals above and the reflection of this achievement 
in a rising share price this year! We hope you will 
remain committed to our company. We are looking 
forward to this year!

Sincerely,

Dr. Wolfgang Trier
(Chief Executive Officer)



SoftingShares

 Softing’s shares have been listed on the Prime 
Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since 
May 16, 2000.

Share perFormance
Shortly after the beginning of 2016, the  Softing 
share fell to its low of EUR 10.25 and then  hovered 
around EUR 10.60 until the end of February. In 
March, the price of the  Softing share soared to 
reach its high for year of EUR 15.35 on March 21, 
2016. The share price dropped again in the sec-
ond quarter – interrupted only by short periods of 
recovery – and on August 3 reached its low for the 
year of EUR 9.85. This marked the beginning of a 
strong, albeit volatile, rally during which the price 
remained in a corridor of EUR 11 to EUR 13. On 
December 30, the share price closed the year at 
EUR 12.85, up 12% on its price of EUR 11.45 at the 
beginning of the year. During the year, the share 
for the most part significantly outperformed the 
TecDAX, the index relevant for  Softing. 

The market capitalization of  Softing AG was 
EUR 79.7 million at the end of 2016, down from 
EUR 81.9 million on December 31, 2015. In 2016, 
the share capital of  Softing AG was EUR 6,959,438, 
denominated in the same number of no-par 
shares; this figures was unchanged from 2015.

traDing Volume
In 2016, the average daily trading volume of 
 Softing shares on XETRA was 7,774 shares, with a 
total of approx. 1.9 million shares changing hands 
during the reporting year. The total trading vol-
ume (XETRA, Frankfurt and other stock exchanges) 
was more than EUR 36 million.  Softing supports 
the liquidity of its shares by using two designated 
sponsors, ICF Kursmakler AG and Süddeutsche 
Aktienbank AG. 
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earningS per Share
Earnings per share (EPS) were EUR 0.82 in 2016, 
compared with EUR 0.65 in the previous year. 
 Softing AG calculates earnings per share in accor-
dance with IAS 33 on the basis of the average num-
ber of shares outstanding. There were no dilution 
effects in 2016.

ShareholDer Structure
Helm Trust Company Limited, St. Helier, Jersey, 
UK. remains the single largest investor in  Softing’s 
6,959,438 shares. As of the reporting date,   Softing 
was not aware of any notifications stating that the 
shareholder’s equity investment had exceeded or 
fallen below any thresholds compared with the 
originally reported share of 26.69% in the Com-
pany’s share capital. In addition to this investor, 
there are a number of institutional investors and 
several private anchor investors. The remaining 
shares are in free float.

analySt recommenDationS
Warburg Research has analyzed the  Softing share 
regularly for years in research reports and last year 
published four studies and updates on the share. 
In all its analyses, the bank issued a strong buy rec-
ommendation, stating a target price of EUR 17.50 
in its last study of the year on November 3, 2016.

More information about analysts’ reports on  Softing 
shares is available at www.softing.com under 
Investor, News & Publications, Research. In our 
press and interviews section you can find out more 
about the growth prospects of  Softing that were 
published in a variety of financial newspapers and 
magazines such as Focus, Euro am Sonntag, Frank-
furter Tagesdienst and others.

capital market communicationS
 Softing AG again conducted extensive investor 
relations activities in 2016. The Company par-
ticipated in several investor and analysts’ events 
and was represented in activities like roadshows 
and at investor conferences, such as the German 
Equity Forum held in Frankfurt in November or the 
Munich Capital Market Conference (MKK).

The activities in financial communications were 
complemented by numerous meetings with insti-
tutional and private investors as well as repre-
sentatives of the press. On the Company’s web-
site, investors can find relevant information on the 
 Softing shares (Investor section) and about the 
Company.
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CORPORAteSOCiAlReSPONSiBility

AcceptingandBearingResponsibility– 
CorporateSocialResponsibility(CSR)atSofting

Maintaining and expanding our partnership with 
our customers and the technological leader-
ship that we have attained is both our duty and 
our source of motivation for our daily work. We 
want customers to see  Softing as the right choice 
for demanding solutions in the fields of industrial 
automation and automotive electronics. Solutions 
created by  Softing employees with their expertise, 
creativity and dedication each and every day.

As we face an increasing shortage of specialists, 
well-qualified and highly motivated employees 
are our most important assets. We invest time 
and effort in creating an environment in which our 
staff can enjoy their work whilst benefiting from 
social safeguards. With competitive salaries com-
bined with a high degree of job security, we pro-
vide a solid foundation for our employees and their 
 families. Technically and organizationally challeng-
ing tasks, relaxed interactions and fair treatment 
even in cases of conflict create a positive working 
atmosphere at  Softing. The Company, in turn, ben-
efits from the continual growth of our individual 
and collective knowledge.

Our company’s favorable working conditions 
and maximum flexibility are increasingly bring-
ing female employees on board. There is no ques-
tion that we offer equal pay to men and women 
with the same experience for the same job. We 
are opposed to quotas in any shape or form. As 
a result of our company policy, the proportion of 
female employees at  Softing has risen considerably 
in recent years. 

We have also spent many years investing in tomor-
row’s workforce.  Softing supports students by 
cooperating with universities to offer individual 
programs for the best students in each class and 
by providing a generous number of internships. All 
of the technical departments offer topics and jobs 
for bachelor’s and master’s theses in coordination 

with university institutes. A high double-digit num-
ber of students take advantage of this each year. 
For several of our employees, this was their route 
into  Softing.

Our HR decisions are guided by the potential, 
abilities and personal commitment shown by our 
employees – and not by their age. We offer both 
students and more mature applicants the oppor-
tunity to play a role at  Softing. We regularly hire 
employees who are older than 50. Longtime 
employees are offered the chance to work beyond 
retirement age if this seems reasonable in individ-
ual cases. Our company benefits greatly from their 
professional and life experience.

Based in Haar, Germany,  Softing is a truly global 
company. Every single day, we experience a closely 
networked world. Although a company of our 
size must focus its contributions primarily on its 
local environment, we take our global responsi-
bility seriously as well. In all of our commitments, 
it is important to us to be very confident that our 
donations will be allocated effectively. One par-
ticular goal is to attract people with the potential 
to achieve great things, whatever their social back-
ground: their current social standing is immaterial 
to our decision-making.
 
As a sustainable and healthy company, we have the 
financial freedom to share our success with the 
community in which we do business. And we take 
advantage of it.
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CombinedManagementReportofSoftingAG 
andtheGroupforthe2016Financialyear

FunDamental inFormation  
about the group

buSineSS moDel
the group’s business model
 Softing is an established international software 
and systems house in two segments: Industrial 
and Automotive. The Company develops complex, 
high-quality software, hardware and complete sys-
tem solutions. Hardware prototypes are developed 
by  Softing itself; production takes place externally.

Through its Industrial segment,  Softing is a lead-
ing provider worldwide of industrial communica-
tions solutions and products for the manufacturing 
and process industry. The products are tailored to 
the requirements of system and device manufac-
turers, machinery and plant engineers as well as 
end users, and they are known for being extremely 
user-friendly and offering functional advantages. It 
focuses on components and tools for fieldbus sys-
tems and industrial control systems, as well as on 
solutions for production automation.

Comprised of the Company’s core competence in 
diagnostics, measurement and testing,  Softing’s 
Automotive segment stands for key technologies 
in automotive electronics as well as such closely 
related areas in electronics as the commercial 
vehicle or agricultural machinery industry. The 
Com pany’s range of products and services encom-
passes hardware and software, customized solu-
tions as well as on-site consulting and engineering.

 Softing specializes in the entire life cycle of elec-
tronic control units and systems – from develop-
ment to production all the way to services. Devel-
opment work in Automotive is focused on stan-
dardization.  Softing is an active member in the 
major standards bodies for automotive electronics 
such as ASAM and ISO.

Consulting, analyses, studies and training round 
out the range of services offered by both operat-
ing segments.  Softing primarily offers its services 
and products to the European market and increas-
ingly also to the North American market. But the 
Asian markets such as China, Japan and Korea are 
becoming more and more important.
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Group ManaGeMent report

 Softing Group as of 12/31/2016 Capital share

2016
%

2015
%

 Softing AG, Haar/Germany
 Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH, Haar/Germany 100 100
 Softing Services GmbH, Haar/Germany 100 100
 Softing Project Services GmbH, Haar/Germany 100 100
 Softing Messen und Testen GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 100
 Softing Industrial Automation GmbH, Haar/Germany 100 100
samtec automotive software & electronics GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany* 100 100
 Softing Italia s.r.l., Cesano Boscone/Italy 100 100
 SoftingROM s.r.l., Cluj-Napoca/Romania 100 100
Buxbaum Automation GmbH, Eisenstadt/Austria 65 65
 Softing Inc., Newburyport/USA (formerly:  Softing North America Inc.) 100 100
 Softing North America Holding Inc., Delaware/USA 100 100
OLDI Online Development Inc., Knoxville/USA 100 100
 Softing IT Networks GmbH, Haar/Germany (formerly Psiber Data GmbH) 100 100
Psiber Data Pte. Ltd., Singapore (formerly Psiber Data Pte. Ltd.) 100 100
 Softing S.A.R.L., Paris/France 100 100

Entities established in 2016
Shanghai  Softing software Co., Ltd., Shanghai/China 100 0
 Softing Automotive Electronics Services GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 0
Automotive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 0

*Attheendof2016,SoftingAutomotiveelectronicsGmbhacquiredownershipoftheoperatingbusinessofsamtecautomotivesoftware&
electronicsGmbh.

group Structure at a glance
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On the Presentation of the Segments
Segmentation of the  Softing Group is based on its 
internal reporting and organizational structure, 
taking into account the different risks and income 
structures of each individual division. Segmenta-
tion by divisions entails allocating  Softing’s activi-
ties to the Automotive and Industrial segments. 
Please see the section on segment reporting in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements for 
further details as well as quantitative disclosures 
on the  Softing Group’s segments.

 Softing AG 
 Softing AG is the Group’s central management 
holding company.

Industrial Automation GmbH
 Softing Industrial Automation GmbH is a leading 
provider worldwide of industrial communications 
solutions and products for the manufacturing and 
the process industry. The products are tailored 
to the requirements of system and device manu-
facturers, machinery and plant engineers or end 
users, and they are known for being user-friendly 
and offering functional advantages.

 Softing Italia s.r.l.
 Softing Italia is organizationally a subsidiary of 
 Softing Industrial Automation GmbH.  Softing uses 
 Softing Italia to serve customers in Italy locally. In 

2016, this company made a positive contribution 
to the overall earnings of the  Softing Group.

Online Development Inc. (OLDI) and  Softing Inc. 
Online Development Inc. (OLDI) and  Softing Inc. 
(both domiciled in Knoxville, TN), and the sales 
office  Softing Inc. (Newburyport, MA) are orga-
nizationally subsidiaries of  Softing North  America 
 Holding Inc. An Original Design Manufacturer 
(ODM) for almost 30 years, OLDI offers a portfolio 
of hardware and software products that supports a 
large number of industrial market segments. Major 
brand manufacturers use OLDI’s wealth of exper-
tise in industrial data processing and communica-
tion to enhance the market launch of both inno-
vative and proven technologies. Serving the North 
American market,  Softing Inc. handles project work 
with its internal resources while providing local 
support to product business. In 2016, both Ameri-
can companies together made a positive contribu-
tion to the overall success of the  Softing Group.

Buxbaum Automation GmbH
The sales office Buxbaum Automation GmbH, 
Eisenstadt serves customers in Austria locally. The 
company again made a positive contribution to the 
overall earnings of the  Softing Group in 2016.
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Group ManaGeMent report

 Softing IT Networks GmbH,  Softing Singapore 
Pte. Ltd. and Shanghai  Softing software Co., Ltd., 
china 
 Softing IT Networks GmbH (formerly Psiber Data 
GmbH), domiciled in Haar, near Munich, Germany, 
provides IT network diagnostic equipment, which 
is used in industrial automation, office installa-
tions, and data centers.  Softing Singapore (for-
merly Psiber Data Pte. Ltd.), domiciled in Singa-
pore, supplies test and measuring devices for cop-
per and glass fiber data networks. This includes 
both the development and manufacture of ultra-
high performance products in this field and acces-
sories to support sales activities. Shanghai  softing 
software Co., Ltd., domiciled in Shanghai, China, 
was formed in 2016 to market  Softing Singapore’s 
product range in mainland China. Apart from sales 
and distribution, the company provides technical 
support and calibration services for the products 
offered. The three  Softing IT Networks companies 
are profitable companies with a growing product 
portfolio that consists of both in-house and third-
party products.

 Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH and 
samtec automotive software & electronics GmbH
 Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH, domiciled 
in Haar, Germany, offers products and services for 
diagnostics and test automation. The comprehen-
sive process-based approach of the  Softing solu-
tions enhances quality and reliability in control unit 
communications. With over 80,000 installations, 

 Softing holds a leading position in the growth mar-
ket for diagnostic and test systems in the field of 
automotive electronics. Automobile manufactur-
ers and system and control unit suppliers around 
the world rely on  Softing’s proven hardware and 
software tools and solutions. At the end of 2016, 
 Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH acquired 
ownership of the operating business of samtec 
automotive software & electronics GmbH (sam-
tec), which discontinued all further market activi-
ties at this point in time.

 Softing Messen & Testen GmbH 
 Softing Messen & Testen GmbH, domiciled in Haar, 
Germany, is organizationally a subsidiary of  Softing 
Automotive Electronics GmbH.  Softing has suc-
cessfully engaged in the field of automotive test 
solutions for more than 20 years and offers exten-
sive expert knowledge on every aspect of auto-
mated testing of automotive electronics. The Com-
pany has already implemented functional tests and 
test designs for many control units used in motor 
vehicles. SMT ( Softing Mess-Technik) also covers 
the entire field of mobile and stationary data log-
ging systems.

 Softing Project Services GmbH
 Softing Project Services GmbH, domiciled in Haar, 
Germany, organizationally has been a subsidiary of 
 Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH since 2015. 
To offer the best possible support,  Softing Proj-
ect Services GmbH provides high-quality services 
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directly on customers’ premises. Competent con-
sulting and engineering services focused on the 
Company’s core competence – diagnostics, meas-
urement and testing – are rendered to custom-
ers. Well-trained staff in some cases work directly 
on site. Establishing close links between all impor-
tant participants is a hallmark of the approach of 
 Softing Project Services GmbH and plays a decisive 
role in the success of its projects.

 Softing Automotive Electronics Services GmbH
 Softing Automotive Electronics Services GmbH, 
domiciled in Kirchentellinsfurt, Germany, is a com-
pany that was founded in 2016 by  Softing Auto-
motive Electronics GmbH. It functions as an inter-
nal development company in the Automotive 
segment.

 Softing Services GmbH
 Softing Services GmbH, domiciled in Haar, Ger-
many, provides services for  Softing AG’s operating 
companies.

 SoftingRom s.r.l.
The subsidiary  SoftingROM s.r.l. ( SoftingROM), 
which is domiciled in Cluj, Romania, is a subsidiary 
of  Softing Services GmbH.  SoftingROM forms an 
important pool of IT specialists for complex devel-
opment tasks within the  Softing Group and is a 
strategically important part of the  Softing Group.

 Softing S.A.R.L
 Softing S.A.R.L, domiciled in Paris, France, was 
founded in 2015 by  Softing Services GmbH. It pro-
vides the legal and organizational framework for 
the sales and marketing activities of the  Softing 
Group in France.

Automotive Communications  
Kirchentellinsfurt GmbH
Automotive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt 
GmbH, domiciled in Kirchentellinsfurt, Germany, 
is a company that was founded in 2016 by  Softing 
Automotive Electronics GmbH with the aim of han-
dling the remaining business operations of samtec 
as well as offering internal services in the automo-
tive communications business.

Business Model of  Softing AG
 Softing AG acts as a management holding com-
pany for the  Softing Group. It generates revenue 
from invoicing for management services, legal 
assistance and quality management services pro-
vided to the subsidiaries. Beyond this, the business 
model is limited to the management of the equity 
investments. 

These consolidated financial statements were pre-
pared in accordance with Section 315a para 1 Ger-
man Commercial Code subject to application of 
the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as applicable within the European Union.
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Group ManaGeMent report

internal management SyStem
The  Softing Group uses key performance indicators 
(KPIs) to manage its business; these KPIs include 
consolidated revenue; earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT) and operating EBIT, which is derived 
from EBIT; EBIT adjusted for capitalized develop-
ment services and their amortization as well as the 
effects of purchase price allocation. Working capi-
tal is also managed via KPIs. Working capital mainly 
comprises inventories as well as trade receivables 
and trade payables.

Inventories are analyzed on an ongoing basis, and 
any need for writedowns is determined based on 
inventory coverage. Short-term sales forecasts are 
used to manage orders for new goods based on 
inventory availability. The aim is to have delivery 
capacity at all times so that our customers can also 
be supplied with products at short notice.

Trade receivables are periodically monitored based 
on their aging structure and tested for impairment. 
Customers are usually subject to internal credit lim-
its. There is strict follow-up of past-due receivables.

Trade payables are mostly settled using available 
cash discounts.

On account of its business model, it is mainly 
the profits or losses under profit transfer agree-
ments that provide the basis for internal manage-
ment at  Softing AG. By managing the subsidiaries 
as explained above,  Softing AG also manages the 
profits or losses under profit transfer agreements 
in the parent company itself.

research and product Development
For years, the  Softing Group has invested a large 
portion of the cash generated by its revenue 
in research and development. In total,  Softing 
invested EUR 23,971 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 21,686 thousand) in the development of 
new products and the enhancement of exist-
ing ones in connection with customer projects. 
This corresponds to an investment ratio (ratio of 
development costs to revenue) of 30 % (previous 
year: 26 %).

In the past financial year, amortization of capital-
ized development costs amounted to EUR 2,699 
thousand (previous year: EUR 2,981 thousand).

At year-end, 267 employees were engaged in 
research and development (previous year: 272). 
 Softing AG itself is not engaged in any research and 
development activities. These take place exclu-
sively at the operating entities. 
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In 2016,  Softing Industrial Automation GmbH 
invested EUR 8.4 million in the development of 
new products and the refinement of existing ones. 
Key developments in the reporting year are sum-
marized below.

Despite a number of skeptical voices, mechanical 
and plant engineering firms see themselves in the 
vanguard of production digitalization and network-
ing (“Industry 4.0”) internationally. A recent report 
from the VDMA’s IMPULS Foundation shows that 
the topic has received broad-based interest in this 
sector, with businesses increasingly pursuing a 
clear-cut digitalization strategy. According to the 
report, IT security is another topic requiring major 
efforts. With this in mind, the VDMA recently 
launched the “University4Industry” start-up, a 
pilot project that offers online courses in industrial 
security with the aim of building up know-how in a 
highly relevant area of digital transformation. 

Last year, the topic of Industry 4.0 gained further 
ground, especially in an international context. 
Gateways enabling the integration of standalone 
production systems into company-wide produc-
tion planning are increasingly important for cus-
tomers with operations worldwide. Apart from the 
OPC-UA technology popular in Germany, the new 
dataFEED UA gate and dataFEED OPC-UA Suite now 
offer the option of using MQTT to implement pro-
duction facilities in the US market. In addition to 
strong data security, the future Internet of Things 
(IoT) also needs compact, high-performance soft-
ware solutions. With the new stacks based on the 
OPC Toolkit,  Softing offers a new OPC-UA integra-
tion solution that also provides prototype sup-
port for the new Ethernet protocol Time Sensitive 
Networking (TSN). TSN will extend the Industrial 

Ethernet standards and offer a continuous path 
from IT systems right through to sensors. 

Industrial Data Intelligence also represents a major 
investment in the future, and  Softing is using this 
as an umbrella term for development of its new 
dataTHINK products for the collection and analy-
sis of contextual information. Since mobile devices 
are now increasingly popular in the process and 
manufacturing industry, software solutions, for 
example Ethernet diagnostics are being migrated 
to HTML 5 and, with Industry 4.0 in mind, being 
supplemented with mobile apps.  Softing’s gate-
ways for the process industry such as the new FF/
Modbus Gateway FG 200 form another point of 
focus for development activities.  Softing can draw 
on specialized production know-how for these 
EEx-i gateways, which are then deployed to explo-
sion hazard areas in the oil and gas industry, and 
fulfill the very highest safety standards.

Since 2016, OLDI and  Softing Industrial Automa-
tion GmbH have also been jointly developing an 
OPC UA module that meets the requirements of 
undersea oil production and complies with MDIS 
specifications.

 Softing IT Networks GmbH was able to further 
demonstrate its leadership role in measurement 
technology for structured building cabling and 
data centers in 2016 by substantially expanding 
its Xpert product series. Alongside measurement 
technology for copper cable meeting or exceed-
ing the recently published Category 8 standard, 
 Softing IT Networks also offers measurement tech-
nology for fiber optic cable and Wi-Fi planning. In 
the reporting year, the groundwork was also laid 
for other products developed in-house.

2016 
eUR(inthsds.)

2015 
eUR(inthsds.)

Capitalizeddevelopmentcosts 4,511 2,786

expensesnotqualifyingforcapitalization 19,460 18,900

23,971 21,686
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 Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH has 
expanded its product portfolio around the ODX 
and OTX standards and improved its market pen-
etration. The run-time environment necessary for 
the standards, a kind of diagnostic operating sys-
tem, was also ported to iOS in 2016. This makes it 
possible to use any type of diagnostic application 
in a range of situations: on a Windows PC in the 
laboratory or at a test site, on an embedded device 
in a driving test, on a smartphone while underway, 
or in the workshop. Customers have already been 
won over for each of these applications. The tools 
for development, production and service based on 
this run-time environment have been expanded 
significantly, making it possible to address further 
applications. For example, the development tester 
DTS Monaco, large numbers of which have been 
sold, has been expanded to other user interfaces. 
The diagnostic runtime system with the develop-
ment environment OTX Studio has already been 
modified to the expected new OTX standard.

 Softing’s CAR ASYST product, a mobile tool for 
repair and service shops, was launched at the end 
of April 2016. The tool was released to the Google 
Play store and the product-specific website also 
went live. The successful internationalization of 
the business of  Softing Automotive Electronics is 
particularly evident in new business deals signed 
with manufacturers in the USA and Japan; here, 
too, the key to success was the consistent use of 
standards. 

Over the last two years, the product portfolio 
acquired from samtec automotive software & 
electronics GmbH has seen major updates, both 
in terms of hardware and software architecture. 
These developments will complete in 2017 and 
enable new products to be brought to market. On 
a similar note, the new VIN|ING hardware fam-
ily has made a technical quantum leap in the pre-
mium segment to secure an early market presence 
based on FPGA in time for further developments in 
automotive fieldbus technology.

 Softing Messen und Testen GmbH comfort-
ably exceeded earnings forecasts in its measure-
ment technology business. One of the reasons for 
this was that a premium manufacturer switched 
entirely to  Softing measurement technology for 
the instrumentation in its new engine testing 
building. SMT was also integrated via EtherCAT into 
the test bench systems used by the global leader 
in road simulation test benches, while also being 
successfully deployed by another premium man-
ufacturer. Starting in 2016, the measuring wheels 
of another global market leader can also be oper-
ated as an integral part of SMT. All customer tri-
als performed on international test tracks were 
implemented successfully. Multiple test benches 
designed for electric and hybrid vehicles were 
implemented using the HiL approach from the 
TESTING unit. The project planning and bidding 
phases were also completed for an extensive clus-
tered HiL test facility. Receiving an order in early 
2017 is very likely. For a racing vehicle that will par-
ticipate in the 24 Hours of Le Mans in 2017, the 
complete electronics assembly was constructed as 
a “CAN-Mobil” to reduce development time. Last 
but not least are products such as the LTW-1 trans-
mission tester and HV components already in use 
around the world and reordered continuously.

report on economic poSition

macroeconomic anD  
SECTOR-SPECIFIC ENVIRONMENT
Weak Global Economic Growth in 2016 –  
But Recent Signs of Recovery
Although the global economy lost considerable 
impetus in the six months to mid-year 2016, it 
noticeably picked up pace from July. Both the 
global gross domestic product and international 
trade grew appreciably from the third quarter 
onward after expanding only modestly in the first 
half of the year. The finalized figure for global GDP 
growth in 2016 as a whole is likely to be just 3.1 %. 
This figure even undercuts the value from 2015, 
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which was itself a weak year. In the USA, the econ-
omy grew by 1.6 % in 2016. The euro zone’s mod-
erate yet persistent economic expansion also con-
tinued into its fourth year in 2016 with growth 
of 1.7 %. The situation also improved consider-
ably in the emerging economies, with the Chinese 
economy expanding strongly by 6.6 %, while GDP 
growth in Japan totaled just 1 %. While the speed 
of the decline of production in Russia slowed 
markedly, negative growth of – 0.6 % is still being 
forecast for 2016. (source: ifW, Kieler Konjunktur
berichte No. 25, 2016|Q4)

Mechanical Engineering: Stagnation of 
Production Compared with the Previous Year
In the first ten months of the reporting year, price-
adjusted production in mechanical engineering fell 
by 0.7 %. This fall was largely attributable to fewer 
working days in this period, which is why VDMA 
experts are confident that the decrease will be 
compensated for by year-end. Production has vir-
tually stalled since 2012. In October, capacity uti-
lization in mechanical and plant engineering was 
84.6 %, and therefore below the long-term average 
for the mechanical engineering sector (85.9 %). 
Production disruptions caused by lack of orders 
were a problem for over a quarter of businesses 
(26 %) in October. Global machinery sales have also 
stagnated. 

Electrical Industry: Fluctuations in Production 
Continue 
In October 2016, price-adjusted production for 
electrical sector companies fell by 5.3 % compared 
to the same month in the previous year – a result 
that perpetuated the flip-flop between positive 
and negative results for individual months in the 
current year. Including October itself, six produc-
tion months have showed a gain and four months 
a drop in production. In the year to date from Janu-
ary to October, sector output has risen 1.0 % year 
on year, however.

Sector revenue totaled EUR 146.2 billion in the 
first ten months of 2016, representing a slight 
improvement of 0.4 % on the prior-year figure. 
Growth in domestic (0.5 % to EUR 71.1 billion) and 

international revenue (0.3 % to EUR 75.1 billion) 
was similarly moderate. (source: ZVEI press release 
99/2016; December 8, 2016)

Automotive Industry: Capital Expenditure  
in R&D Remains Strong 
European Commission figures reveal that the Ger-
man automotive industry is responsible for a third 
of global R&D spending in the automotive sector. 
This places German automakers in pole position – 
and ahead of both Japanese and US companies. 

In addition, four of the six largest R&D investors 
from the European Union are German automotive 
sector businesses: almost three quarters (74 %) of 
total global R&D spending from automotive com-
panies domiciled in the EU was made by German 
companies.

Domestic research and development spending by 
the German automobile industry increased by over 
10 % to EUR 21.7 billion. Automakers were respon-
sible for around two thirds of R&D spending, the 
rest being attributable to suppliers. These figures 
also secured the German automotive industry the 
highest share of R&D spending in the German econ-
omy (35 %), trailed at some distance by electrical 
engineering and mechanical engineering. (Source: 
German Association of the Auto motive Industry, 
https://www.vda.de/de/presse/Pressemeldungen, 
press release from December 22, 2016)

courSe oF buSineSS
In 2016,  Softing was unable to completely com-
pensate for weaker sales in the US and German 
markets despite significant growth in the business 
in the rest of Europe and Asia. Revenue in 2016 
stood at EUR 80.4 million, slightly below the pre-
vious year’s figure of EUR 82.3 million. The tar-
get of EUR 85 million was missed due to the lack 
of robustness in the US market. As expected, the 
operating EBIT of EUR 6.7 million was impacted by 
an absence of extremely high-margin orders in the 
US market, despite good earnings performance in 
other regions. For this reason, this figure fell short 
of the EUR 7.5 million forecast. EBIT amounted to 
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EUR 7.2 million in 2016 (previous year: EUR 5.5 mil-
lion), reflecting a one-off effect of EUR 4.1 million 
arising from the reduction in the variable portion 
of the OLDI purchase price. The weaker economic 
performance in the United States as a result of 
political uncertainty stabilized again in the fourth 
quarter. EBITDA amounted to EUR 12.3 million in 
the year under review (previous year: EUR 10.8 
million), and the EBITDA margin was 15 % (previ-
ous year: 13 %). 

In the Industrial segment, revenue totaled EUR 57.6 
million (previous year: EUR 58.7 million). On the 
whole, however, this was insufficient to fully com-
pensate for the lackluster US market. Automotive 
revenue stood at EUR 22.8 million despite discon-
tinued product lines, approximately matching the 
previous year’s figure of EUR 23.6 million. 

The Industrial segment saw EBIT rise from EUR 2.2 
million to EUR 4.2 million on account of the posi-
tive one-off effect from the reduction in the vari-
able portion of the OLDI purchase price. In the 
Automotive segment, EBIT dropped slightly from 
EUR 3.3 million to EUR 3.0 million. EBITDA in the 
Industrial segment climbed from EUR 6.0 million in 
the previous year to EUR 7.6 million, while EBITDA 
in the Automotive segment amounted to EUR 4.3 
million (previous year: EUR 4.5 million).

The consolidated net profit for the year was 
EUR 5.7 million (previous year: EUR 4.5 million).

Due to a larger profit transfer, the net profit for the 
year of  Softing AG, the Group’s parent company, 
rose by EUR 0.4 million from EUR 2.5 million in 
2015 to EUR 2.9 million in 2016. This result is in 
line with the forecast for the financial year.

earningS
Results of Operations of the Group
The financial key performance indicators are rev-
enue, operating EBIT and EBIT. 

In the past financial year, consolidated revenue 
decreased by 2.3 % to EUR 80.4 million. Own work 
capitalized (product developments) was EUR 4.5 
million, EUR 1.7 million above the previous year’s 
level (EUR 2.8 million); the share of own work cap-
italized in consolidated revenue increased in the 
2016 financial year. Other operating income was 
heavily impacted by the change in the variable 
purchase price of EUR 4.1 million for OLDI and 
one-time insurance payments of EUR 0.7 million 
related to the fire at the subsidiary Messen und 
Testen GmbH.

The expense items developed as follows:

2016 
EUR (in thsds.)

2015 
EUR (in thsds.)

Costofmaterials 31,353 31,879

employeeBenefitsCosts 35,122 33,554

Depreciation,amortizationandimpairmentlosses 5,100 5,282

Otheroperatingexpenses 11,538 11,742

Operating expenses 83,113 82,457
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The cost of materials fell by EUR 0.5 million or 
1.7 % year on year as a result of lower revenue. All 
told, the cost of materials ratio (cost of materials 
relative to revenue) was 39 % as in the previous 
year, and gross profit (revenue less cost of materi-
als) decreased from EUR 50.4 million to EUR 49.1 
million.

Staff costs rose by 5 % to 35.1 million EUR, mainly 
due to salary increases, new hirings and variable 
remuneration. As of the reporting date, the  Softing 
Group had 435 employees.

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 
on intangible assets and property, plant, and 
equipment decreased slightly from EUR 5.3 million 
to EUR 5.1 million, due to the decrease in write-
downs of internally generated intangible assets.

Other operating expenses fell slightly by EUR 0.2 
million.

EBIT rose from EUR 5.5 million to EUR 7.2 million, 
aided by the one-off effect from the reduction in 
the variable purchase price for OLDI.

The interest result improved from EUR – 0.3 million 
to EUR – 0.2 million and in 2016 was once again 
dominated by interest expense on the loans taken 
out to finance the purchase price for OLDI. 

After deducting taxes on income, consolidated 
profit amounted to EUR 5.7 million (previous year: 
EUR 4.5 million).

Results of Operations of  Softing AG
As a management holding company,  Softing AG 
only generated revenue from performing ser-
vices for its subsidiaries. These services princi-
pally entailed active corporate management of the 
subsidiaries as well as legal assistance and quality 
management services. Fixed portions of the costs 
incurred for these services were charged to the 
subsidiaries. the costs for general controlling activ-
ities were not allocated to the subsidiaries.

 Softing AG does not itself operate directly in the 
market, instead receiving income from equity 
investments and from profit transfer agreements. 

Profit and loss transfer agreements have been 
signed with the following subsidiaries:

Directly:
•  Softing Industrial Automation GmbH
•  Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH
•  Softing Services GmbH

Indirectly (via  Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH):
•  Softing Messen & Testen GmbH 
• samtec automotive software & electronics GmbH
•  Softing Project Services GmbH

The key control parameter for  Softing AG is the 
income from profit transfer that constitutes a 
financial key performance indicator. This rose 
from EUR 3.3 million to EUR 4.2 million in the 
past financial year as a result of the rise in prof-
its transferred from  Softing Industrial Automation 
and  Softing Services. The guidance for the income 
from profit transfer for the 2016 financial year was  
EUR 3.0 – 3.5 million. The guidance was exceeded 
particularly because of the higher profit trans-
ferred from  Softing Industrial Automation. 

Staff costs declined from EUR 2.3 million to EUR 3.0 
million due to higher variable remuneration. 

Other operating expenses declined slightly over-
all from EUR 0.7 million (incl. the reclassification of 
the cost of purchased services pursuant to the Ger-
man Accounting Directive Implementation Act – 
BilRUG) to EUR 0.5 million.

Due to higher costs related to the management of 
subsidiaries, revenue from affiliated companies in 
2016 rose from EUR 3.2 million to EUR 3.7 million.

Taxes on income rose by EUR 0.2 million to EUR 1.2 
million due to the increase in profit before tax. 
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Net profit for the year improved from EUR 2.5 mil-
lion to EUR 2.9 million as a result of the increase 
in cost allocations to subsidiaries and the higher 
profit transfer.

Financial poSition
Financial Position of the Group
FinancialManagement
As part of the Group’s financial management, the 
German subsidiaries are included in a cash pooling 
system managed by  Softing AG. Where deemed 
necessary, the cash flows of companies doing busi-
ness in foreign currencies are hedged using con-
ventional forwards. No forward contracts were 
concluded in the last financial year.

CapitalStructure
At the end of 2016, the  Softing Group had equity of 
EUR 47.6 million (previous year: EUR 42.3 million), 
an increase of 12 % or EUR 5.2 million. The equity 
ratio in the financial year was 57 %, after 51 % in 
the previous year.

Non-current liabilities decreased from EUR 21.9 
million to EUR 13.7 million due to the lower vari-
able purchase price obligation from the OLDI 
acquisition, loan repayments and reclassifications 
to current liabilities, while deferred tax liabilities 
increased by EUR 0.5 million.

Current liabilities rose by EUR 3.3 million to 
EUR 21.6 million due mainly to the reclassification 
of the remaining variable purchase price portion 
for OLDI, which is due for payment in 2017.

Capitalexpenditure
In the financial year ended, the  Softing Group 
invested EUR 4.5 million in internally generated 
intangible assets. Investments in other non-current 
assets amounted to EUR 1.7 million in the previous 
year and EUR 1.1 million in 2016. Please refer to 
the Research and Development section for infor-
mation on investments in the specific segments.

liquidity
The cash flow from operating activities was up 9 % 
from EUR 8.6 million to EUR 9.5 million, due to 
increased cash flows for the period and improved 
receivables management.

Funds used for investing activities amounted to 
EUR 6.5 million, comprising mainly capitalized 
development services and replacements.

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 
EUR 1.4 million and was impacted by the repay-
ment of loans totaling EUR 1.2 million, the divi-
dend payment of EUR 1.0 million and offsetting 
proceeds from payments from a short-term bank 
line of EUR 1.0 million.

The cash available to the Group amounted to 
EUR 10.9 million at year-end (previous year: 
EUR 9.2 million).

Financial Position of  Softing AG
CapitalStructure
Equity increased from EUR 31.9 million to EUR 33.8 
million as of December 31, 2016. The net profit for 
2016 of EUR 2.9 million compensated for the divi-
dend of EUR 1.0 million for 2015.

The equity rose from 66 % to a healthy 70 % in 
2016.

The change in provisions from EUR 2.5 million to 
EUR 4.0 million is principally the result of a change 
in provisions for variable remuneration and higher 
tax provisions.

Other liabilities decreased from EUR 2.3 million to 
EUR 1.2 million due to variable purchase price pay-
ments for the 2014 acquisitions totaling EUR 0.9 
million.

Liabilities to banks declined slightly by EUR 0.2 mil-
lion to regular repayments of the loans taken out in 
2014 in the amount of EUR 1.2 million and the off-
setting effect of taking out a short-term operating 
loan of EUR 1.0 million.
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liquidity
The subsidiaries obtained financing almost exclu-
sively from  Softing AG’s cash pooling system and 
its own cash contributions to the operations of 
subsidiaries not participating in the cash pool-
ing system. Separate bank loans were taken out 
by individual subsidiaries only to a minor extent. 
The fixed purchase price of OLDI was financed 
through EUR 11.0 million in total loans obtained 
by  Softing AG from two commercial banks in Ger-
many. These amounted to EUR 7.7 million as of 
December 31, 2016.

Funds at year’s end were EUR 3.0 million (previous 
year: EUR 4.2 million).

net aSSetS
Net Assets of the  Softing Group
Non-current assets comprise items including intan-
gible assets, goodwill, property, plant, and equip-
ment, and deferred tax assets and at the end of 
2016 represented 59.0 % of total assets (previous 
year: 57.1 %). This was offset by equity and non-
current liabilities representing 74.0 % (previous 
year: 77.9 %).

Non-current assets rose by EUR 1.8 million to 
EUR 48.9 million. This was due to the increase 
in goodwill resulting from the change in the 
USD exchange rate (EUR 0.3 million), a currency-
adjusted increase in other intangible assets 
(EUR 1.1 million) and an increase in deferred tax 
assets (EUR 0.5 million).

Current assets comprise inventories, trade receiv-
ables, and cash and cash equivalents. This figure 
changed from EUR 35.3 million to EUR 34.0 million 
mainly due to a reduction in trade receivables and 
receivables from customer-specific construction 

contracts by EUR 3.2 million. The increase in cash 
and cash equivalents had an offsetting effect of 
EUR 1.7 million.

Total assets in the reporting year amounted to 
EUR 82.9 million (previous year: EUR 82.5 million).

Cash and cash equivalents at year’s end were 
EUR 10.9 million (previous year: EUR 9.2 million).

Net Assets of  Softing AG
The total assets of  Softing AG remained stable 
year on year at EUR 48.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 48.4 million).

Short-term loans of EUR 1.4 million were taken 
out in the 2016 financial year. In 2015,  Softing AG 
received funds totaling EUR 1.1 million from the 
sale of treasury shares.

At EUR 15.2 million, loans to affiliated com panies 
remained stable. Cash and cash equivalents 
decreased to EUR 3.0 million.

Receivables from affiliated companies were up 
EUR 1.2 million as a result of increased receivables 
from profit and loss transfer agreements. 

oVerall aSSeSSment oF the group’S 
anD the parent company’S poSition
The financial position and net assets of both the 
Group and  Softing AG continue to be very solid, 
and the results of operations in the past financial 
year were solid.

There were no other events, particularly no risks to 
the Company, that would have deviated from the 
Executive Board’s earlier assessments.
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REPORT ON POST-BALANCE SHEET DATE 
eVentS
There are no events after the balance sheet date 
to report. 

report on opportunitieS, riSkS anD 
ForecaStS 

report on opportunitieS
The information provided applies to the Group 
and to  Softing AG in equal measure. The opportu-
nities and risks arise in the individual subsidiaries 
of  Softing AG. Through the profit and loss transfer 
agreements concluded, these also have a direct 
effect, possibly with a time lag for the IFRS account-
ing, on the single-entity financial statements of 
 Softing AG.

Focus within Automotive
The focusing of activities of Automotive Electronics 
on its core areas of expertise – diagnosis, measure-
ment and testing – continued in the financial year 
just ended. Increased productivity and ongoing 
quality assurance measures will form a solid foun-
dation for the further expansion and establishment 
of business. This has firmly anchored the Automo-
tive Electronics segment among key customers.

 Softing Automotive Electronics
New and existing customers alike are showing 
strong interest both in the VCI portfolio (including 
new and planned products) acquired from sam-
tec and the new VCF. The order books for these 
products are already well filled, something that 
is attributable to the expertise of the Company’s 
long-serving employees on the one hand and to 
the refinement of the VCI software and hardware 
products on the other.

 Softing Messen & Testen GmbH 
One more premium manufacturer adopted SMT 
( Softing Measurement Technology) in 2015. Fur-
ther follow-up orders were placed in 2016. In test-
ing business, large orders for HIL systems were 
placed by major engineering service providers. In 
2016, sales activities were expanded further and 
are showing positive results.

Internationalization in the Industrial Automation 
Segment Continues
The Industrial Automation segment continued to 
develop its strategy in the direction of market-ori-
ented products with direct customer benefit and 
introduced new products in the market. The result-
ing increase in the share of software products had 
a positive impact on earnings.

With this orientation, the imported products and 
many years of networking (in committees, for 
example),  Softing Industrial Automation is already 
involved in the implementation projects of the 
global Industry 4.0 initiative and will increasingly 
benefit from them.

In order to position itself even more advanta-
geously in the Industry 4.0 environment, the com-
pany has initiated a new business activity, “Indus-
trial Data Intelligence”, which makes it possible for 
machine or equipment manufacturers and other 
manufacturing companies to benefit from their 
production data, for example, for optimization pur-
poses or for predictive maintenance.  Softing Indus-
trial Automation is a specialist in data acquisition, 
so this addition to its product portfolio makes the 
company well equipped to participate in a market 
that is seeing extremely dynamic growth.

The portfolio for FPGA-based solutions was further 
expanded in the area of communications solutions 
for production engineering. With the implementa-
tion of the PROFINET specification 2.3 and the per-
formance this makes possible,  Softing’s Industrial 
Ethernet solution now offers the ideal link for fast 
drive technology.
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Online Development Inc. (OLDI)
With its acquisition of the North American 
Online Development Inc. (OLDI) in 2014,  Softing 
took another decisive step towards the goal of 
strengthen ing its international portfolio. For over 
20 years, OLDI has designed and manufactured 
factory automation products to help industrial cus-
tomers simplify control and communications tasks. 
OLDI complements the product portfolio of the 
Industrial Automation segment. 

As a Rockwell Automation Global Encompass Part-
ner, a member of the Control System Integrator 
Association (CSIA) and ODVA, and a participant in 
partner programs run by IBM, Microsoft, and Ora-
cle, OLDI generates a host of potential synergies 
for further  Softing products in these channels.

The competencies and technologies in place at 
OLDI and  Softing Industrial Automation comple-
ment each other so well that end-to-end commu-
nications solutions can now be offered to produc-
tion and process automation customers. These 
potential synergies will lead to further new prod-
ucts in 2017 as well.

 Softing IT Networks GmbH 
(Formerly Psiber Data GmbH)
 Softing’s wholesale acquisition of Psiber Data 
GmbH closed its strategic gap in mobile devices 
for Ethernet network diagnostics while opening 
up the similarly fast-growing – although technically 
more challenging – market in copper and optical 
fiber network diagnostics for use by data centers 
and office installations.

With the latest generation of devices, Psiber is a 
technology leader in this market. It is the only com-
pany with devices capable of measuring cables up 
to CAT 8 specifications. This creates demand for 
customers, especially in connection with the initial 
equipment of networks. Wireless communication 
played an increasingly major role in 2016 and going 
forward will open up new and advanced market 
opportunities.

 SoftingROM
 Softing continually develops new products and 
technologies in order to address the transition to 
new technologies, as well as to tap new markets 
and opportunities for growth. The Romanian sub-
sidiary  SoftingROM has the task of boosting the 
required development services. Cluj in Romania is 
an ideal location for  Softing since it can be reached 
relatively quickly and inexpensively from Munich. 
There are also many well-educated engineers and 
computer scientists in the region.

Shanghai  Softing software Co., Ltd./China 
Shanghai  Softing software Co., Ltd., domiciled 
in Shanghai, China, was formed in 2016 to mar-
ket  Softing Singapore’s product range in mainland 
China. Apart from sales and distribution, the com-
pany provides technical support and calibration 
services for the products offered. This marks the 
completion of a key step in achieving improved 
local development of the Chinese market.

riSk report
The information provided applies to the Group and 
to  Softing AG in equal measure. The risks arise in 
the individual subsidiaries of  Softing AG. Through 
the profit and loss transfer agreements concluded, 
these also have a direct effect, possibly with a time 
lag for the IFRS accounting, on the single-entity 
financial statements of  Softing AG. The risks pre-
sented affect both segments. 

 Softing is an internationally operating company 
involved in industrial automation technology and 
automotive electronics. The Company is exposed 
to a number of risks that are inextricably linked to 
its entrepreneurial activities.
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In particular, this concerns risks resulting from 
market development, the positioning of products 
and services, contractual and non-contractual lia-
bility, and business processes. Our business policy 
is to best exploit existing business opportunities. 
It is the task of our risk policy to carefully weigh 
the risks associated with this. Risk management is 
therefore an integral component of our business 
processes and company decisions. The risk man-
agement system of the Group and of  Softing AG 
comprises both risks and opportunities in equal 
measure.

Risk principles are defined by our Executive Board. 
They include statements on risk strategy, the 
willingness to take risks and the scope of these 
principles.

Risk analysis entails assessing identified risks in 
terms of the probability of their occurring (quan-
titative dimension) and the potential loss (dimen-
sion of intensity). Risk assessment is subject to 
practical limits, however – especially in the area of 
operating risks – because the number of potential 
risks is high but, more often than not, the available 
risk data is incomplete. As a result, subjective risk 
assessments must be made in many areas exposed 
to risk because the expenditure for risk manage-
ment should be reasonable.

To be able to assess the risks, we have divided 
them into several categories. Multiplying the prob-
ability of occurrence by the extent of loss gives rise 
to the following levels of risk:

a. Minor risks 
Minor risks are insignificant for the Company 
and no action needs to be taken to mitigate 
the risk.

b. Moderate risks 
The extent of loss in moderate risks is limited 
and there is a moderate probability of occur-
rence. There is no immediate need for action. 

Efficient, effective measures are suf-
ficient to reduce moderate risks or to 
manage them rapidly in the event of an 
emergency.

c. Major risks
Major risks cause greater loss and/or 
have a higher probability of occurrence 
than moderate risks. These risks should 
be reduced through appropriate controls 
or process optimization. Where possible, 
appropriate measures should be taken 
to reduce the major gross risk to the 
moderate or minor level of risk.

d. Going-concern risks 
Going-concern risks could jeopardize the 
continued existence of an organizational 
unit or the  Softing Group as a whole. 
Measures must be taken immediately to 
reduce the gross risk.

We use a number of control systems to moni-
tor and control our risks. These include a cen-
tralized company planning process, among 
other things. We regularly monitor the 
achievement of our business goals and the 
risks that are connected to this as well as the 
accounting processes.

The risks involved in individual business 
processes were also periodically recorded, 
analyzed and evaluated in the reporting 
period. We also assessed whether individual 
risks which are of minor importance when 
viewed in isolation could develop into a risk 
threatening the Company’s existence when 
combined.

The risk factors mentioned below could have 
a strong negative impact on the Company’s 
business performance, cash flows and profit 
or loss. Risks that we believe to be of little rel-
evance to our business at this time are not 
mentioned.
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External Risks
The constant expansion of our business with cus-
tomers in the United States and other dollar coun-
tries has increased the significance of assessing 
currency risks. Every year, we check if the currency 
risks in connection with the ongoing business with 
our subsidiaries in the United States and Singa-
pore the should be hedged. If it appears neces-
sary,  Softing uses conventional forward exchange 
deals as hedges. We categorize this risk as a 
moderate risk.

Performance Risks
In 2016, revenue decreased slightly compared to 
2015. Despite the continuation of major invest-
ments in technologies and markets, earnings 
remained virtually stable. A particularly strong 
third and fourth quarter again contributed to this 
result.

Nonetheless, there is always a general risk both of 
underutilization of capacities and sustaining pres-
sure on realizable revenues. We meet these risks 
with stricter cost management measures and flex-
ible working hour models so that we can quickly 
adapt to any changes in demand. We categorize 
this risk as a moderate risk.

The situation on the market is characterized by a 
rapid change of the employed technologies. This 
means that there is a danger that acquired know-
how may prematurely lose value due to an unex-
pected market development. We address this 
risk by actively participating in a large number of 
national and international working groups, which 
enables us to recognize technological trends early 
on and help shape them ourselves. We categorize 
this risk as a moderate risk.

In certain areas of our business, both in the Indus-
trial and the Automotive segment, we are involved 
in the complex development projects of our cus-
tomers. These projects entail a certain realization 

risk regarding the planned budgets and time 
frames. Any deviations could lead to a deteriora-
tion of profit and claims for damages. We deal with 
this risk by planning such projects in accordance 
with a process model defined by our quality man-
agement system, and by carefully monitoring proj-
ect progress with an alarm controlling system. We 
make continual investments to further improve 
 Softing’s already high quality standard. We catego-
rize this risk as a moderate risk.

When manufacturing products – particularly hard-
ware products – we make considerable use of sup-
plies from external companies. The inclusion of 
third parties in our value chain naturally reduces 
the level of influence we have on quality, costs 
and adherence to schedules. Unexpected price 
increases can affect the result considerably. We 
counteract this risk through long-term supplier 
contracts wherever possible. Supplier failures can 
lead to delivery bottlenecks. We reduce the risk by 
regularly auditing our suppliers and consistently 
limiting the share of deliveries from individual sup-
pliers. We categorize this risk as a moderate risk.

Our products and services are used in the produc-
tion of industrial goods. Downtime or malfunction 
can result in significant damage to persons and 
property. We reduce this risk by following a careful 
development process which is tailored to the spe-
cific scope of application. Significant residual risks 
have been covered through insurance policies. We 
categorize this risk as a moderate risk.

Financial Risks
Credit risks have not played a significant role in the 
past. Our restrictive credit management process 
allows us to identify imminent insolvencies faster 
and thus to counteract them in due time. Together, 
all of these measures again helped to forestall 
major defaults on receivables in 2016. Overall, we 
categorize this risk as a smaller-scale risk.
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Other Risks
As in all companies, the smooth functioning of 
business processes depends on the availability of 
our IT infrastructure. Attacks from the Internet, as 
well as other IT failures or damage to our IT infra-
structure, pose a serious threat to the Company’s 
ability to function.  Softing implemented IT security 
measures which so far prevented damage caused 
by computer viruses and sabotage. This is why we 
believe that the probability of a threat to the secu-
rity of our data inventories or information systems 
is manageable. We categorize this risk as a moder-
ate risk. 

The financial success of the  Softing Group is rooted 
to a large extent in the skills and qualifications of 
its employees. For this reason, our employees are 
trained on an ongoing basis to ensure that the 
quality of their performance corresponds to the 
requirements of our customers.

There is keen competition for highly qualified pro-
fessionals and executives in the labor market at this 
time. Qualified staff are a material prerequisite for 
boosting the Company’s shareholder value. Hence 
we always seek to recruit new, very well trained 
personnel; integrate them as best as possible; pro-
mote them and establish a long-term collaboration 
with them. In addition to attractive employment 
conditions, we also offer our staff targeted training 
and continued education. But there is the poten-
tial risk that suitable professionals or executives 
cannot be recruited in the market in due time, and 
that this might have a negative effect on the Com-
pany’s assets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or 
loss. We categorize this risk as a moderate risk.

Even though not a single compliance case has so far 
arisen at  Softing despite the level of awareness by 
Controlling and the Executive Board, the Executive 
Board and the legal department continue to take 
the issue of compliance very seriously. Through 
workshop participation and a series of presenta-
tions, we ensure that current trends and issues 
are taken on board and adapted to the situation 
at  Softing. We categorize this risk as a minor risk.

In our view, there are no acute risks that would 
jeopardize the Company’s existence as a going 
concern or negatively impact its development. 

Based on the risk policy and the current assess-
ment of the risks, we consider the risk exposure to 
be manageable for both the Group and  Softing AG. 
On account of the strong net assets, financial posi-
tion, and results of operations, we believe that the 
Group will be able to bear the residual risks not 
covered by insurance even in the event of unfavor-
able developments.

report on expecteD DeVelopmentS
Moderate Rates of Growth over the  
Next Two Years
Despite a turbulent global environment, the Ger-
man economy remains on course for growth. The 
Institute for Economic Research (IfW) is forecasting 
GDP growth of 2.0 % for Germany in 2017. The UK’s 
Brexit vote is likely to have only a negligible impact. 
While the long-term repercussions of the US presi-
dential election and the constitutional referendum 
in Italy remain difficult to predict as yet, their short-
term consequences are likely to be limited. 

Short-term euro zone economic growth remains 
moderate, with 1.7 % forecast for each of the next 
two years. Since parliamentary elections will be 
held in four of the five largest euro zone countries 
(Germany, France, Italy and Netherlands) in 2017, 
there is considerable uncertainty about the future 
direction of economic policy. Despite these con-
cerns, the consensus is that the moderate rate of 
expansion will in principle continue. Global GDP 
growth will increase to 3.5 % in 2017 and 3.6 % in 
2018. In light of a monetary policy environment 
that remains in an expansionary mood overall, and 
considering the increasing efforts towards stim-
ulus in financial policy and a return to stronger 
demand in the developing and emerging econo-
mies, IfW analysts are therefore expecting to see a 
slight acceleration to GDP growth in the advanced 
economies over the next two years. A strong eco-
nomic upturn is not on the cards, however. For the 
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euro zone as a whole, the IfW expects to see GDP 
growth of 2.1 % for each of the next two years, fol-
lowing growth of 1.7 % for the current year. For the 
United States, IfW analysts are forecasting GDP to 
grow by 2.5 % in 2017 and 2.7 % in 2018. (source: 
IfW, Kieler Konjunkturberichte No. 25, 2016|Q4)

 Softing Well-positioned for 2017 with 
Outstanding Technology Portfolio
Analysts continue to forecast positive growth for 
the international advanced automation technology 
markets, and the process/production auto mation 
market segment relevant for  Softing Industrial. 

 Softing’s acquisitions in 2014 further improved the 
breadth of its product mix while also strengthen-
ing its technological expertise. As a result,  Softing 
Industrial is ideally positioned to benefit both from 
positive developments across the industry, and 
growth in its primary markets – Europe and the 
United States.

In 2017, Industrial Automation will continue to 
integrate and expand its product portfolio. Tar-
gets here include expanding the Gateway family 
and the diagnostics portfolio for Industrial Ether-
net while further enhancing the communications 
solutions. As in the past, a core driver here will be 
the synergy effects generated by the companies 
and product groups for the technologies and their 
marketing.

In Automotive business, the main focus in the 
coming year will be on continued marketing of the 
standard products of DTS-8, OTX Studio, interfaces 
of the HS family, measurement technology (SMT, 
µ series), and  Softing TDX.

In 2017, the Automotive segment will proceed 
with the marketing of its new VCI family VIN|ING 

600-6000, now in development since 2015. There 
are also plans to expand customer presence in 
the emerging markets; further promising contacts 
in Asia were made with the aim of winning over 
customers with the VCIs in combination with the 
 Softing software tool chain. Activities in the area of 
test bench applications based on the HSX VCI prod-
uct family will continue to be expanded.
 
The Automotive segment will increase market-
ing efforts for its range of measurement technol-
ogy products, which was widened in 2016. A num-
ber of customers are already satisfied users of this 
sophisticated system; based on this success, the 
marketing approach will be extended to other 
OEMs and tier 1 suppliers.

Outlook for the 2017 Financial Year  
for  Softing AG
It is the clear objective of  Softing to systematically 
strengthen its own activities and expand its world-
wide presence through targeted partnerships.

Thanks to a combination of its modern product 
portfolio, close proximity to customers and good 
financial reserves,  Softing is in a better position 
than many competitors and thus will be able to 
benefit from opportunities in the market in the 
near term. 

The Company’s continued development hinges 
largely on the continued positive development of 
the global economy. This is why the Company’s 
actual performance might deviate from the Execu-
tive Board’s expectations.

Based on projected earnings, we are forecasting 
income from profit and loss transfer agreements 
of EUR 3.5 million to EUR 4.0 million for the 2017 
financial year.
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Outlook for the 2017 Financial Year  
for the  Softing Group
The declared goal remains to build  Softing into 
a dynamic global company on the strength of 
regional expansion and focused market penetra-
tion. We are firmly committed to continuing our 
pursuit of this goal in 2017. Based on the Group’s 
positioning and customer feedback,  Softing sees 
opportunities to increase incoming orders, rev-
enue and earnings in 2017. However, we face an 
enormous rise in uncertainty regarding economic 
developments in Europe as well as in Asia and 
North America.  Softing would not be able to avoid 
the impact of downturns in the demand markets. 
These external risks are taken into account in our 
forecast as a dampening factor.

As a leading technology group,  Softing must work 
to actively shape technical change. The speed of 
change has increased dramatically in all segments. 
For this reason, we plan to use the expertise that 
our current portfolio and acquisitions provide for 
the extensive development of new products and 
the extensive refinement of existing ones in 2017. 
For 2017, we are assuming that capitalization of 
development costs will remain largely  stable, due 
to increased investment in new products. This 
stands in contrast to opportunities for above-aver-
age returns in the existing business and the eco-
nomic risks mentioned above. Given all these influ-
ences, we expect a moderate increase in revenue 
and incoming orders to EUR 82 million. We are 
expecting EBIT of up to EUR 5.7 million; this figure 
also takes into account one-time effects from the 
OLDI acquisition. Our operating EBIT is expected 
to come in at EUR 5.0 million. At segment level, 
we anticipate the Industrial segment to see a 
slight increase and the Automotive segment to 
see a slight decrease in revenue, EBIT and operat-
ing EBIT. From mid-year, we will provide quarterly 
reports with more detail on these figures.

internal control SyStem  
anD riSk management SyStem 
releVant For the conSoliDateD 
Financial reporting proceSS

Definitions and Elements of the  Softing Group’s 
Internal Control and Risk Management System
The  Softing Group’s internal control system com-
prises all principles, procedures and actions 
required for ensuring the effectiveness, economy 
and propriety of the Company’s financial report-
ing as well as compliance with material legal 
requirements.

Our internal control system comprises an internal 
management and monitoring system. 

Monitoring mechanisms that are process-inte-
grated or uninvolved in business processes consti-
tute the elements of the  Softing Group’s internal 
monitoring system. Hence automated IT process 
controls besides manual process controls – such 
as the two-person integrity (TPI) principle – are an 
integral part of all process-integrated activities.

As part of the internal control system, those 
aspects of the risk management system that con-
cern financial reporting are focused on the risk 
of misstatements in the Group’s bookkeeping as 
well as its external reporting system. Besides risk 
management at the operating level – which also 
includes risk transfer to insurance companies 
through insurance policies serving to limit the risk 
of loss or liability as well as through suitable hedg-
ing transactions serving to limit foreign currency 
risks – the  Softing Group’s risk management sys-
tem also comprises early detection as well as man-
agement and monitoring of risks, systematically 
and groupwide. The  Softing Group has established 
a monitoring system pursuant to Section 91 para 2 
German Stock Corporation Act that is aimed at 
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early detection of risks that might jeopardize the 
Company’s existence in order to ensure systematic 
early detection of risk throughout the Group. For 
additional disclosures on the risk management sys-
tem, please see the section entitled, “Risk Report.”

As part of the risk reporting system, the Execu-
tive Board is regularly informed about risks. Risks 
are identified at an early stage and assessed. Risks 
are reported across all companies, with the risks 
recorded being listed and evaluated. The Executive 
Board is responsible for defining appropriate risk 
management measures. Significant individual risks 
are recorded independently of the regular cycle 
and reported without delay.

Use of IT Systems
Accounting transactions are recorded in the single-
entity financial statements of the German compa-
nies’ subsidiaries using IFS’s bookkeeping system. 
Our foreign subsidiaries utilize local providers of 
bookkeeping systems. All subsidiaries supplement 
their separate financial statements by additional 
information using standardized reporting pack-
ages that are entered into  Softing AG’s consolida-
tion system in connection with the preparation 
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
The system from software manufacturer Lucanet is 
used as the consolidation system. All consolidation 
processes required to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements of  Softing AG – e. g. acquisi-
tion accounting, asset and liability accounting, or 
elimination of expenses and earnings – are gener-
ated and documented in the consolidation system.

Specific Risks Related to the Financial  
Reporting Process
Specific risks related to the Group’s financial 
reporting process may arise from unusual or com-
plex transactions. Transactions that are not rou-
tinely processed also entail inherent risks. Addi-
tional risks related to the financial reporting pro-
cess arise from the latitude that employees must 
be given in regards to the recognition and mea-
surement of assets and liabilities. 

Material Control and Monitoring Activities 
Aimed at Assuring the Propriety and Reliability 
of the Financial Reporting Process 
All facets of the internal control system that serve 
to provide a proper and reliable financial report-
ing process ensure complete and timely recording 
of all transactions in compliance with all require-
ments under the law and the Company’s Articles of 
Incorporation. It also assures that inventories are 
taken in proper fashion and that both assets and 
liabilities are accurately recognized, measured and 
shown in the consolidated financial statements. 
These control activities also serve to ensure that 
the bookkeeping records provide reliable and plau-
sible information.

The monitoring activities serving to ensure that 
the financial reporting is proper and reliable also 
comprise the analysis of transactions and develop-
ments using specific analyses of key indicators. The 
separation of functions related to administration, 
execution, accounting and approval – as well as 
their perception as such by a variety of individuals 
– limits the possibilities for engaging in intentional 
acts. For example, this also ensures that bookkeep-
ing processes are carried out both in the proper 
period and in full even if the IT systems that the 
Group companies use for the underlying account-
ing are changed. 

The internal control system also serves to make 
sure that changes in the  Softing Group’s economic 
or legal environment are duly presented and that 
new or amended statutory requirements concern-
ing the financial reporting process are applied. 

The International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) represent the uniform accounting poli-
cies applied by the domestic and foreign entities 
included in  Softing’s consolidated financial state-
ments. Besides general accounting policies, in 
particular, this concerns requirements related to 
the statement of financial position, the income 
statement, the notes, the management report, 
the statement of cash flows, the statement of 
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comprehensive income, the statement of changes 
in equity and segment reporting, taking require-
ments under EU law into account.

 Softing’s accounting standards also govern con-
crete formal requirements that the consolidated 
financial statements must fulfill. They not only 
determine which companies to include in consoli-
dation, they also fix the components of the report-
ing packages that the Group companies must pre-
pare in detail. Among other things, these formal 
requirements serve to ensure the binding utiliza-
tion of a standardized and complete set of forms. 
 Softing’s accounting standards also contain specific 
requirements regarding the treatment and settle-
ment of intra-group transactions and the reconcili-
ation of accounts based thereon. 

At the Group level, the specific elements of con-
trol designed to ensure the propriety and reliability 
of Group accounting principles comprise analyses 
and possibly revisions of Group companies’ sepa-
rate financial statements. The centralized execu-
tion of impairment tests for the cash generating 
units from the Group’s perspective assures that 
uniform and standardized measurement crite-
ria are applied. Furthermore, additional data are 
processed and aggregated at the Group level in 
regards to external information in both the notes 
and the management report, including informa-
tion related to events after the reporting period.

caveats
The internal control and risk management system 
makes it possible to record, process and measure 
all transactions pertaining to the Group as well as 
their appropriate presentation through the finan-
cial reporting process thanks to the  Softing Group’s 
organizational, control and monitoring structures.

However, personal discretion, defective controls, 
criminal acts or other circumstances cannot be 
precluded by the very nature of the matter at hand 
and, as a result, may limit the effectiveness and 
reliability of the internal control and risk manage-
ment system such that even groupwide applica-
tion of the systems utilized cannot guarantee with 
absolute certainty complete, accurate and timely 
recording of transactions as part of the financial 
reporting process.

DiScloSureS in accorDance with 
SECTIONS 289 (4) AND 315 (4) HGB AND 
explanatory report

1. In 2016, the share capital of  Softing AG was 
EUR 6,959,438 denominated in the same 
number of no-par shares, all granting the 
same rights, specifically voting rights. No 
shareholder or shareholder group has special 
rights.

2. Sareholders’ voting rights are not restricted 
by law or the Company’s Articles of Incorpora-
tion. The voting rights are not limited to a spe-
cific number of shares or votes. The Executive 
Board is not aware of any limitations regarding 
the voting rights. 

The shareholders of  Softing AG are not lim-
ited by law or the Company’s Articles of Incor-
poration in their decision to purchase or sell 
shares. To be effective, the purchase or sale 
of shares does not require the approval of the 
Company’s boards. The Executive Board is not 
aware of any limitations regarding the assign-
ability of shares.
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3. We have been notified of the following direct 
or indirect equity interests that exceed 10 % of 
the voting rights: 

Helm Trust Company Limited, St. Helier, Jersey, 
Great Britain, notified us in accordance with 
Section 21 para 1 German Securities Trad-
ing Act that its voting shares in our Company 
exceeded the threshold of 25 % on Decem-
ber 5, 2011, and were 26.69 % on that date 
(1,504,720 voting shares). 

Of this amount, 26.69 % (1,504,720 voting 
shares) must be allocated to it in accordance 
with Section 22 para 1 sentence 1 no. 1. 

Attributed voting shares are held by the fol-
lowing companies it controls and whose inter-
est in the voting shares of  Softing AG is 3 % or 
more in each case:
- Trier Familienstiftung
- Trier Asset Management GmbH
- Trier Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG

4. The Company has not issued any shares with 
special rights conferring powers of control.

5. No employees may directly exercise their 
control rights in connection with their equity 
interests.

6. In accordance with § 7 of the Articles of Incor-
poration of  Softing AG, the Executive Board of 
 Softing AG comprises one or more persons. 
Even if the Company’s share capital exceeds 
EUR 3,000,000, the Executive Board may com-
prise just one person. Deputy members of the 
Executive Board may be appointed. The Super-
visory Board appoints the members of the 
Executive Board and determines the number 
of persons serving on the Executive Board. The 
Supervisory Board may appoint a chairman of 
the Executive Board and a deputy chairman of 
the Executive Board. 

The Supervisory Board is authorized to make 
amendments to the Articles of Incorpora-
tion insofar as they concern only the wording 
thereof. More comprehensive amendments to 
the Articles of Incorporation are subject to the 
requirements of Sections 133 and 179 Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act.

An average of 6,959,438 shares were out-
standing in the reporting year. 

In May 2015, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting authorized the Executive Board of 
 Softing AG to increase the Company’s share 
capital with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board by a total of EUR 3,479,719.00 on one 
or several occasions up to May 5, 2020 by 
issuing new no-par bearer shares against con-
tributions in cash and/or in kind (Authorized 
Capital 2015). Said authority was not exercised 
in 2016.

The authorized capital as of December 31, 
2016, was EUR 3,479,719.00.

7. The share capital is increased by up to 
EUR 3,221,256.00 by issuing up to 3,221,256 
new no-par bearer shares against contribu-
tions in cash and/or in kind (Contingent Capi-
tal 2013). The contingent capital increase will 
serve the granting of option rights or obliga-
tions to the holders of warrants arising from 
bonds with warrants under the terms of the 
respective options or the granting of conver-
sion rights or obligations to the holders of con-
vertible bonds under the terms of the respec-
tive convertible bonds issued by the Company 
up to May 6, 2018 in accordance with the res-
olution of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
on May 7, 2013. The new shares will be issued 
at the respective option or conversion price to 
be determined in accordance with the above-
mentioned authorization resolution. The con-
tingent capital increase will be implemented 
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only in the event that bonds with warrants or 
convertible bonds are issued and only to the 
extent that the holders of the bonds with war-
rants or the convertible bonds make use of 
their option or conversion right or the holders 
of bonds obligated to convert or to exercise the 
option fulfill this obligation and the contingent 
capital is needed in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the bond with warrants or 
the convertible bond. The new shares issued 
on the basis of the exercise of the option or 
conversion right or the fulfillment of the con-
version or option obligation have a share in 
the profit from the beginning of the financial 
year in which they arise. The Executive Board 
is authorized, with the approval of the Super-
visory Board, to stipulate the further details of 
the implementation of the contingent capital 
increase. Said authority was not exercised to 
date.

On May 4, 2016, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting authorized the Executive Board to 
purchase own shares until May 3, 2021, pro-
vided that such purchase is not made for the 
purpose of trading in treasury shares, and pro-
vided that the purchase price of said shares is 
not more than 10 % above or below the share’s 
average closing price at the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange during the last ten days preceding 
the purchase (share repurchase). The clos-
ing price shall be determined as the share’s 
closing auction price in electronic trading on 

the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (XETRA trading) 
or a system succeeding XETRA trading. The 
authorization may be exercised once or sev-
eral times, in whole or in part. It is limited to 
purchasing shares representing no more than 
a total of 10 % of the Company’s share capi-
tal. Any treasury shares acquired under this 
authorization – together with other treasury 
shares that the Company has already acquired 
and still holds – may not exceed 10 % of the 
Company’s share capital.

The repurchase serves to create an acquisition 
currency that is required in the medium term 
and that is available at a price which the Com-
pany believes to be considerably below fair 
value. The Company held no treasury shares 
as of 31 December 2016.

8. There are no material agreements entered 
into by the parent company that provide for a 
change of control following a takeover bid.

9. An agreement with one member of the Execu-
tive Board gives him the right to terminate his 
employment for cause if at least one outside 
shareholder or one shareholder group acting 
in concert reaches 1.61 million voting shares 
through possession or attribution. If this 
Execu tive Board member exercises this right 
to terminate his employment for cause, he is 
entitled to compensation equaling approxi-
mately two annual salaries.
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baSic inFormation on the 
compenSation SyStemS For  
memberS oF corporate boDieS

Compensation of the Executive Board is divided 
into a fixed salary component and a perfor-
mance-based, i. e. variable component. The per-
formance-based components are contingent on 
consolidated profit. Likewise, the performance of 
 Softing’s shares is key to the variable component 
of executive compensation as well. Members of 
 Softing AG’s Executive Board are also entitled to a 
company car. There is no stock option plan in place. 
For more details regarding the Executive Board’s 
compensation, please see the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Pension provisions for former members and one 
current member of the Executive Board were rec-
ognized as of December 31, 2016. For details, 
please see the disclosures on pension provisions in 
the notes. 

The Executive Board’s director’s contracts run until 
2018 and 2021, respectively. 

Each member of the Supervisory Board receives 
a fixed compensation of EUR 10,000 for each full 
financial year of service on the Supervisory Board. 
In addition, they also receive a variable remunera-
tion Equaling 0.5 % of consolidated EBIT before tak-
ing into account the Supervisory Board’s variable 
compensation. The chairman receives 200 % of the 
fixed and variable amount, the deputy chairman 
150 %. The compensation for the entire Super-
visory Board is limited to a total of EUR 200,000 
per financial year. 

Statement on corporate goVernance

The Executive Board of  Softing AG reports on 
issues of corporate governance in this statement 
– also on behalf of the Supervisory Board – pur-
suant to both Section 3.10 of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code and Section 289a (1) of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The statement 
applies both to  Softing AG as the parent and to the 
Group in equal measure. For the contents of the 
statement, please see this link on our website at 
www.softing.com: http://investor.softing.com/en/
corporate-governance/erklaerung-289-a-hgb

reSponSibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles, the con-
solidated financial statements and the annual 
financial statements of  Softing AG give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of the Group and of  Softing AG, 
and the combined management report includes a 
fair review of the development and performance 
of the business and the position of the Group and 
of  Softing AG, together with a description of the 
material opportunities and risks associated with 
the expected development of the Group and of 
 Softing AG.

Haar, Germany, March 16, 2017
 Softing AG

The Executive Board

Dr. Wolfgang Trier Ernst Homolka



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ConsolidatedStatementofFinancialPosition
as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015

 

Assets Note
Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

non-current assets

Goodwill C1/C2 15,494 15,243

intangibleassets C3/C4 28,262 27,126

 43,756 42,369

Property,plantandequipment C5 2,257 2,362

 46,013 44,731

Deferredtaxassets D9 2,864 2,395

non-current assets, total 48,877 47,126

current assets

inventories C7 9,214 9,313

tradereceivables C8 11,742 14,976

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts C9 848 431

12,590 15,407

Other current assets C10 712 815

Currentincometaxassets C11 626 504

Currentfinancialassets C12 0 124

Cashandcashequivalents C12 10,869 9,186

current assets, total 34,011 35,349

total assets 82,888 82,475
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equityandliabilities Note
Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

equity

Subscribedcapital C13 6,959 6,959

Capitalreserves C13 12,270 12,270

Treasury shares C13 0 0

Retainedearnings C13 28,355 23,136

equity(Groupshare) 47,584 42,365

Minorityinterests C13 –17 –30

equity, total 47,567 42,335

Non-current liabilities

Pensionsandsimilarobligations C14 2,237 1,860

long-termborrowings C15 6,596 7,480

Othernon-currentliabilities C15 57 8,223

Deferredtaxes D9 4,859 4,323

Non-current liabilities, total 13,749 21,886

Current liabilities

tradepayables C16 4,856 5,698

Payablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts C9 1,027 617

Provisionsandaccruedliabilities C17 287 683

incometaxliabilities C18 2,166 1,529

Short-termborrowings C19 2,660 1,737

Currentnon-financialliabilities C20 2,965 4,203

Currentfinancialliabilities C21 7,611 3,787

Current liabilities, total 21,572 18,254

Total equity and liabilities 82,888 82,475



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ConsolidatedincomeStatement
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2016

Note
Jan.1–Dec.31,2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
Jan.1–Dec.31,2015 

eUR(inthsds.)

revenue D1 80,424 82,306

Otherownworkcapitalized D2 4,512 2,786

Otheroperatingincome D3 5,339 2,837

Operating income 90,275 87,929

Costofmaterials D4 –31,353 –31,879

Staffcosts D5 –35,122 –33,554

Depreciation,amortizationandimpairmentlosses D6 –5,100 –5,282

 thereofdepreciation/amortizationduetopurchasepriceallocation –1,248 –1,245

Otheroperatingexpenses D7 –11,538 –11,742

Operating expenses –83,113 –82,457

Profit/loss from operations (EBIT) 7,162 5,472

interestincome D8 63 58

interestexpense D8 –248 –323

Earnings before income taxes 6,977 5,207

incometaxes D9 –1,262 –728

Consolidated profit 5,715 4,479

Attributableto:

Ownersoftheparent e4 5,702 4,477

Minorityinterests e4 13 2

Consolidated profit 5,715 4,479

earningspershare(basic=diluted) 0.82 0.65

Averagenumberofsharesoutstanding(basic) 6,959,438 6,936,016
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ConsolidatedStatementofComprehensiveincome
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2016

Note
Jan.1–Dec.31,2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
Jan.1–Dec.31,2015 

eUR(inthsds.)

Consolidated profit 5,715 4,479

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated profit or loss

Remeasurements C13 –397 285

taxeffect 111 –80

remeasurements –286 205

Items that will be reclassified to consolidated profit or loss:

Currency translation differences   

Changesinunrealizedgains/losses 1,018 2,402

taxeffect –171 –1,077

Currencytranslation 847 1,325

consolidated total comprehensive income 561 1,530

Total comprehensive income for the period 6,276 6,009

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:

Ownersoftheparent 6,263 6,007

Minorityinterests 13 2

Total comprehensive income for the period 6,276 6,009

earningspershare(basic=diluted) 0.90 0.87

Averagenumberofsharesoutstanding(basic) 6,959,438 6,936,016



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ConsolidatedStatementofChangesinequity
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2016

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Treasury 
shares Retained earnings

Attributable 
to share-

holders of 
 Softing AG

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total equity

Capital

Net  
retained 

profits  
and other

Remeas-
urements

Currency 
translation Total Interests Interests

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

As of January 1, 2015 6,959 12,270 –223 17,092 –1,277 2,198 18,014 37,020 –32 36,988

Dividendpayment –1,740 –1,740 –1,740 –1,740

Sale of treasury shares 223 855 855 1,078 1,078

Remeasurements  285 285 285 285

taxeffect –80 –1,077 –1,157 –1,157 –1,157

Currencytranslation  2,402 2,402 2,402 2,402

Netprofitfor2015 4,477 4,477 4,477 2 4,479

Balance as of December 31, 2015 6,959 12,270 0 20,684 –1,072 3,523 23,136 42,365 –30 42,335

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Treasury 
shares Retained earnings

Attributable 
to share-

holders of 
 Softing AG

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total equity

Capital

Net  
retained 

profits  
and other

Remeas-
urements

Currency 
translation Total Interests Interests

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

eUR 

(inthsds.)

As of January 1, 2016 6,959 12,270 0 20,684 –1,072 3,523 23,136 42,365 –30 42,335

Dividendpayment –1,044 –1,044 –1,044 –1,044

Remeasurements  –397 –397 –397 –397

taxeffect 111 –171 –60 –60 –60

Currencytranslation  1,018 1,018 1,018 1,018

Netprofitfor2016 5,702 5,702 5,702 13 5,715

Balance as of December 31, 2016 6,959 12,270 0 25,342 –1,358 4,370 28,355 47,584 –17 47,567
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ConsolidatedStatementofCashFlows
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2016

Jan.1–Dec.31,2016 
eUR(inthsds.)

Jan.1–Dec.31,2015 
eUR(inthsds.)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit(beforetax) 6,977 5,208

Depreciation,amortizationandimpairmentlossesonfixedassets 5,100 5,282

Othernon-cashtransactions –84 239

Cash flows for the period 11,993 10,729

interestincome –63 –58

interestexpense 248 323

Changeinotherprovisionsandaccruedliabilities –396 421

Changeininventories 99 –576

Changeintradereceivables 2,818 –1,158

Changesinfinancialreceivablesandotherassets –364 –1,470

Changeintradepayables –842 1,691

Changesinfinancialandnon-financialliabilitiesandotherliabilities –3,685 190

interestreceived 3 5

incometaxespaid –289 –1,448

Cash flows from operating activities 9,522 8,649

investmentsinfixedassets –1,096 –1,655

Cashpaidforinvestmentsininternallygeneratedintangibleassets –4,511 –2,786

Cashpaidfortheacquisitionofsubsidiaries/variablepurchaseprices –914 –1,346

Cash flows from investing activities –6,521 –5,787

Cashpaidfordividends –1,044 –1,740

Cashreceivedfromshort-termbankline 1,000 0

Repaymentofbankloans –1,241 –1,670

Cashreceivedfromthesaleoftreasuryshares 0 1,078

interestpaid –150 –228

Cash flows from financing activities –1,435 –2,560

Netchangeinfunds 1,566 302

effectsofexchangeratechangesoncashandcashequivalents 117 134

Cashandcashequivalentsatthebeginningoftheperiod 9,186 8,750

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 10,869 9,186

Forfurtherinformation,pleaseseeiteme3oftheNotes.
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ChangesinintangibleAssets
andProperty,Plantandequipment

in the 2016 Financial Year

Cost

Jan.1, 
2016

Additions Currency
differences

Disposals Dec.31,
2016

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

intangibleassets

Goodwill 15,539 0 250 0 15,789

internallygeneratedintangibleassets 20,775 4,836 0 1,318 24,293

Otherintangibleassets 22,088 564 660 245 23,067

58,402 5,400 910 1,563 63,149

Property,plantandequipment

Otherequipment,furnitureandfixturesandofficeequipment 4,594 1,145 17 1,134 4,622

62,995 6,545 927 2,697 67,771

in the 2015 Financial Year 

Cost

Jan.1, 
2015

Additions Currency
differences

Disposals Dec.31,
2015

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

intangibleassets

Goodwill 14,752 0 787 0 15,539

internallygeneratedintangibleassets 17,989 2,786 0 0 20,775

Otherintangibleassets 19,980 392 2,124 408 22,088

52,721 3,178 2,911 408 58,402

Property,plantandequipment

Otherequipment,furnitureandfixturesandofficeequipment 3,430 1,262 26 124 4,594

56,150 4,440 2,937 532 62,995
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Accumulateddepreciation,amortizationandimpairmentlosses Carryingamounts

Jan.1,2016 Currency
differences

Depreciation,amortiza-
tionandimpairment

lossesinthefinancialyear

Disposals Dec.31,2016 Dec.31,2016 Dec.31,2015

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

296 0 0 0 296 15,493 15,243

12,514 0 2,699 993 14,220 10,073 8,261

3,222 136 1,571 52 4,877 18,190 18,866

16,032 136 4,270 1,045 19,393 43,756 42,370

2,231 9 830 705 2,365 2,257 2,363

18,264 145 5,100 1,750 21,758 46,013 44,731

Accumulateddepreciation,amortizationandimpairmentlosses Carryingamounts

Jan.1,2015 Currency
differences

Depreciation,amortiza-
tionandimpairment

lossesinthefinancialyear

Disposals Dec.31,2015 Dec.31,2015 Dec.31,2014

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

eUR 
(inthsds.)

296 0 0 0 296 15,243 14,456

9,533 0 2,981 0 12,514 8,261 8,455

1,925 168 1,535 406 3,222 18,866 18,055

11,754 168 4,516 406 16,032 42,370 40,966

1,530 9 765 73 2,231 2,363 1,899

13,284 177 5,281 479 18,264 44,731 42,865



CONSOLIDATED NOTES

NotestotheConsolidatedFinancialStatements
forthe2016Financialyear

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

1. BASIS

The consolidated financial statements of  Softing AG 
were prepared in accordance with all International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that were 
applicable on the balance sheet date and all Inter-
pretations of the International Financial Report-
ing Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
that were binding for the financial year ended and 
applicable in the European Union in accordance 
with Regulation No. 1606/2002 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council on the application of 
international accounting standards. The term IFRS 
also includes the applicable International Account-
ing Standards (IASs). Furthermore, the provisions 
applicable under German Commercial law as 
defined in Section 315a para 1 German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) were also taken into account.

The consolidated income statement is drawn 
up using the nature of expense format. The con-
solidated financial statements are structured in 
accordance with the provisions of IAS 1. The pre-
sentation in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position differentiates between current and 

non-current assets. Assets are classified as current 
if they become due within one year. The consoli-
dated statement of financial position also differen-
tiates between current and non-current liabilities. 
Liabilities are classified as current if they become 
due within one year.

The reporting currency is the euro (EUR). All 
amounts are stated in thousands of euros 
(EUR thousand) unless indicated otherwise. These 
financial statements cover the 2016 financial year 
based on the reporting period from January 1 to 
December 31 of that same year.

The consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report are published in the 
electronic Federal Gazette.

The Executive Board of  Softing AG released the 
consolidated financial statements to the Super-
visory Board on March 16, 2017. It is the task of 
the Supervisory Board to examine the consoli-
dated financial statements and declare whether it 
approves them.

2. PURPOSE OF THE GROUP

 Softing AG, headquartered in Haar near Munich, 
Germany, is the Group’s parent company.  Softing 
AG is a stock corporation under German law. It is 
registered at Munich Local Court with the address 
“Richard-Reitzner-Allee 6, 85540 Haar.” 

The purpose of  Softing AG and its subsidiaries 
is to provide analysis, consulting, development 
and implementation services in the context of IT 

projects as well as business studies, expert opin-
ions and training, especially in the areas of process 
automation and production data acquisition, sys-
tem and user software for micro- and minicom-
puter systems, long-distance data transmission, 
computer networks and commercial IT applica-
tions. The results of these activities are incorpo-
rated into the products marketed by the  Softing 
Group.
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3. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

Changes in Accounting Policies  
Due to New Standards and Interpretations
In the 2016 financial year, the Company applied the 
IFRS whose application is mandatory for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
are applied in the form they were transposed into 
national law by the European Commission subject 
to the due process of endorsement. 

New and Revised Standards and Interpretations:

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits
The amendments to IAS 19 add an option to the 
standard with respect to accounting for contribu-
tions from employees or third parties to defined 
benefit plans. The amendments were issued in 
November 2013 and are effective for the first time 
for financial years beginning on or after February 1, 
2015. Applying these amendments had no effect 
on the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs –  
2010 – 2012 Cycle
These amendments affect the following standards: 

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment / IAS 38 Intan-
gible Assets

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The amendments were issued in December 2013 
and are effective for the first time for financial 
years beginning on or after February 1, 2015. 

Applying these amendments had no effect on the 
net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs –  
2012 – 2014 Cycle
This amendment standard as part of the annual 
improvements (2012 – 2014 cycle) contains amend-
ments to the following Standards:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Dis-
continued Operations

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (with con-
sequential amendment to IFRS 1)

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
 
The amendments were issued in September 2014 
and enter into force for reporting periods begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2016. Applying these 
amendments primarily affected the scope of dis-
closures in the notes and therefore had no effect 
on the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the Group.
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Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (Disclosure Initiative)

The amendments to IAS 1 provide for a stronger 
focus on the principle of materiality, further clas-
sification options for the minimum required items 
in the balance sheet and the presentation of sub-
totals, and greater flexibility in the order in which 
disclosures are presented in the notes to the finan-
cial statements. The amendments were issued in 
December 2014 and enter into force for reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.

Applying these amendments had no material 
effect on the disclosures in the notes. 

Standards and Interpretations not Applied Early
A number of new Standards and amendments to 
Standards and Interpretations can be applied for 
financial years beginning after January 1, 2017, 
They have not been applied early in these con-
solidated financial statements. None of these is 
expected to have a significant effect on the con-
solidated financial statements of the Group, except 
the following set out below:

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, addresses the clas-
sification, measurement and recognition of finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities. The full ver-
sion was published in July 2014. It replaces the 
parts of IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recogni-
tion and Measurement, that relate to the classifi-
cation and measurement of financial instruments. 
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified 
into three measurement categories: those meas-
ured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income or profit and loss, and those measured at 

amortized cost. The determination is made at ini-
tial recognition. The classification depends on the 
Group’s business model for managing its financial 
instruments and the contractual cash flow charac-
teristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, 
the Standard retains most of the IAS 39 require-
ments. The main change is that, in cases where 
the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, 
the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s 
own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive 
income rather than the income statement, unless 
this creates an accounting mismatch. The Group 
intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the financial 
year beginning on January 1, 2018. The Group will 
also consider the impact of the remaining phases 
of IFRS 9 when completed by the IASB. The Group 
is currently analyzing the effects of the standard on 
its net assets, financial position and results of oper-
ations. The analysis is expected to be completed by 
mid-2017.

IFRS 15 provides comprehensive guidance on 
whether, when, and in what amount reporters 
must recognize revenue. It replaces existing stand-
ards addressing the recognition of revenue, includ-
ing IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Con-
tracts, and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. 
IFRS 15 must be applied for the first time in report-
ing periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, 
although early application is permitted. The Group 
is currently analyzing the effects of the standard on 
its net assets, financial position and results of oper-
ations. The analysis is expected to be completed 
by mid-2017. According to an initial assessment, 
no material impact is expected on the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations.
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On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued the final ver-
sion of the new leasing standard, IFRS 16. Since the 
new rules must also be applied to already existing 
leases, the changes in accounting for leases likely 
have a particular practical relevance for nearly all 
companies, including Softing. The amendments 
relate to accounting for (nearly all) leases which 
must be recognized at the lessee according to the 
“right of use” approach. According to this model, 
the lessee recognizes an asset for the right of use 
of the leased object during the lease period and 
a liability for the lease payments. The distinction 
to date between finance and operating leases was 
not retained. Instead, with only a few exceptions, 
all material leases will be recognized in the balance 
sheet of the lessee in the future. Simplification 
options are provided for short-term lease agree-
ments with a term of no more than 12 months and 
lease agreements covering low-value assets.

IFRS 16 must be applied for the first time for finan-
cial years beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 
Early adoption is permitted as long as the pro-
visions of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers are applied simultaneously. For com-
panies preparing IFRS financial statements in the 
EU, the endorsement of IFRS 16 is required for 
mandatory application. However, the timeline for 
an endorsement has not yet been set. The Group 

is currently analyzing the effects of the standard on 
its net assets, financial position and results of oper-
ations. The analysis is expected to be completed 
at the end of 2017. According to an initial assess-
ment, no material impact is expected on the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations 
due to the Group’s limited use of leases.

The following new or revised Standards are not 
expected to have any material effects on the con-
solidated financial statements: 

IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes – Recognition 
of Deferred Taxes for Unrealized Losses

Amendments to IAS 7 Statements of Cash Flow – 
Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – 
Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions

Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2014 – 2016 Cycle

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 
Advance Consideration
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accounting policieS

The financial statements of  Softing AG and its 
domestic and international subsidiaries have been 
prepared using uniform accounting policies. The 

1. RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the con-
sideration received or rendered. The following 
details apply to the recognition of revenue:

revenue
Revenue from the sale of products is recognized 
when ownership or risk has been transferred to 
the customer, if a price has been agreed or can 
be determined and if payment of such price can 
be expected. Revenue is shown net of discounts, 
including volume discounts, rebates and bonuses.

accounting policies were applied consistently for 
all periods presented in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Revenue from Services
Revenue from services (= customer-specific con-
struction contracts) is recognized using the per-
centage of completion method. Recognition must 
be reliable as stipulated in IAS 18.14. Product sales 
which are directly related to a service are also 
recognized using the percentage of completion 
method in line with IAS 11.9. Revenue from other 
services are recognized as soon as the service has 
been rendered.

interest income
Interest is recognized using the effective interest 
method. Interest income from bank balances and 
other financial assets is recognized as income only 
if the Company is likely to partake of the economic 
benefit and if the amount of income can be reliably 
determined.



45

2. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2016 include  Softing AG and the following 

subsidiaries, over which  Softing AG directly or indi-
rectly exercises control:

SoftingGroupasof12/31/2016 Capitalshare

2016
%

2015
%

SoftingAG,haar/Germany

SoftingAutomotiveelectronicsGmbh,haar/Germany 100 100

SoftingServicesGmbh,haar/Germany 100 100

SoftingProjectServicesGmbh,haar/Germany 100 100

SoftingMessenundtestenGmbh,Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 100

SoftingindustrialAutomationGmbh,haar/Germany 100 100

samtecautomotivesoftware&electronicsGmbh,Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany* 100 100

Softingitalias.r.l.,CesanoBoscone/italy 100 100

SoftingROMs.r.l.,Cluj-Napoca/Romania 100 100

BuxbaumAutomationGmbh,eisenstadt/Austria 65 65

Softinginc.,Newburyport/USA(formerly:SoftingNorthAmericainc.) 100 100

SoftingNorthAmericaholdinginc.,Delaware/USA 100 100

OlDiOnlineDevelopmentinc.,Knoxville/USA 100 100

SoftingitNetworksGmbh,haar/Germany 100 100

SoftingSingaporePte.ltd.,Singapore 100 100

SoftingS.A.R.l.,Paris/France 100 100

entitiesestablishedin2016

ShanghaiSoftingsoftwareCo.,ltd.,Shanghai/China 100 0

SoftingAutomotiveelectronicsServicesGmbh,Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 0

AutomotiveCommunicationsKirchentellinsfurtGmbh,Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 0

The following subsidiaries avail themselves of 
exemption pursuant to Section 264 para. 3 Ger-
man Commercial Code:

•  Softing Industrial Automation GmbH (Haar)
•  Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH (Haar)
•  Softing Services GmbH (Haar)
•  Softing Project Services GmbH (Haar)
•  Softing Messen & Testen GmbH 

(Kirchentellinsfurt))
• samtec automotive software & electronics 

GmbH (Kirchentellinsfurt)

*Attheendof2016,SoftingAutomotiveelectronicsGmbhacquiredownershipoftheoperatingbusinessofsamtecautomotivesoftware&
electronicsGmbh.
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3. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries are all companies that the Group con-
trols in terms of financial and operating policies. 
The consolidation of an entity is contingent on the 
possibility of control. According to IFRS 10, a con-
trol relationship requires power over an investee, 
returns, and the ability to affect those returns 
through this power. Power is defined as a situation 
in which the parent has the ability to direct the rel-
evant activities of the investee which significantly 
affect the investee’s returns. Power can be dem-
onstrated by way of voting rights or other contrac-
tual rights. A combination of both is also possible. 
Power is exerted if an entity holds more than 50 % 
of the voting rights in an investee, and no other 
contradictory agreements or circumstances exist. 
In assessing control, potential voting rights, eco-
nomic dependence, the interest held compared 
with that of the other shareholders, and voting 
patterns at shareholder meetings must be taken 
into consideration.

Subsidiaries acquired are accounted for using the 
purchase method. The consideration for the acqui-
sition is equal to the fair value of the transferred 
assets, the equity instruments issued by the Group 
and the liabilities assumed from the previous own-
ers of the acquired subsidiary as of the acquisition 
date. In addition, the consideration paid includes 
the fair value of any recognized assets or liabili-
ties arising from agreed contingent consideration. 
Acquired assets identifiable in the course of a busi-
ness combination along with liabilities and con-
tingent liabilities assumed are recognized when 
they are acquired at their fair value at the time of 
acquisition. For each acquisition of an entity, the 

Group decides on a case-by-case basis whether the 
non-controlling interests in the entities acquired 
are recognized at fair value or in the amount of 
their proportional share of the net assets of the 
acquired entity. 

Any contingent consideration to be paid by the 
Group is recognized at fair value at the time of 
acquisition. Future adjustments to the fair value of 
contingent consideration classified as an asset or 
a liability are measured in accordance with IAS 39 
and either recognized in profit or loss or in other 
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and, 
when settled later, is accounted for in equity.

Transactions involving non-controlling interests 
without a loss of control are reported as trans-
actions with the owners of the Group acting in 
their capacity as owners. Any difference between 
the fair value of the consideration paid and the 
acquired interest in the carrying amount of the net 
assets of the subsidiary arising from the acquisition 
of a non-controlling interest is recognized in equity. 
Gains and losses arising from the sale to non-con-
trolling interests are also recognized in equity.

Intragroup sales, expenses and income, receivables 
and payables as well as the results of intragroup 
transactions (intercompany profits) are eliminated 
during consolidation.

The accounting policies applied by the subsidiaries 
were changed, if necessary, in order to ensure uni-
form accounting throughout the Group.
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets comprise goodwill resulting from 
acquisition accounting as well as other intangible 
assets and capitalized development costs. With 

5. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Development costs for developing new products 
and for materially refining a product or process 
are capitalized if the product or process is techni-
cally and financially feasible; if there is an intention 
to complete it; if the development is marketable; 
if the costs can be reliably determined; and if the 
Group possesses sufficient resources to complete 
the development project. All other development 
costs are immediately recognized as expenses in 
the income statement. Capitalized development 
costs for completed projects are reported at cost 
net of accumulated amortization and impairment. 
In that connection, the costs also include allocable 

material and production overheads besides the 
costs of material and direct production. Adminis-
trative costs are capitalized only if there is a direct 
relationship to production. The  Softing Group 
amortizes the development costs for new product 
lines and product versions over their respective 
useful life using the straight-line method; amor-
tization in the year the product lines or versions 
are completed is recognized on a pro-rata basis. In 
accordance with IAS 38, research costs cannot be 
capitalized and are immediately recognized as an 
expense in the income statement.

the exception of goodwill resulting from acquisi-
tion accounting, all intangible assets have a finite 
useful life.
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6. GOODWILL

Goodwill arises in conjunction with the acquisi-
tion of subsidiaries and equals the total of the con-
sideration paid, the amount of all non-controlling 
interests in the acquired entity, and the fair value 
of previously held equity interests in the acquired 
entity, less the fair value of the net assets acquired. 
If the fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds 
the total of the consideration paid, the amount of 
all non-controlling interests, and the fair value of 
the previously held equity interests, the difference 
is recognized directly in profit or loss.

According to IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortized but 
subjected to an annual impairment test pursuant 
to IAS 36 if there is an indication of impairment. 
For the purpose of this impairment test, goodwill is 
allocated to a cash generating unit (CGU).

At  Softing, the cash generating units correspond to 
the individual entities unless an entity’s business 
activity covers more than one segment. In this 
case, goodwill is allocated based on segments. The 
relevant cash generating units for goodwill are:
•  Softing Messen und Testen GmbH, 

Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 
•  Softing Industrial Automation GmbH, Haar/

Germany
• OLDI Online Development Inc., Knoxville/USA
•  Softing IT Networks GmbH, Haar/Germany 

( formerly Psiber Data GmbH) &  Softing Singa-
pore Pte. Ltd., Singapore (formerly Psiber Data 
Pte. Ltd.)

An impairment loss is recognized if the carry-
ing amount of the cash generating unit to which 
the goodwill is allocated is higher over the long 
term than the recoverable amount. The recover-
able amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. If the carrying amount of 

the CGU is higher than its recoverable amount, 
the difference is directly recognized as an impair-
ment charge in profit or loss. As the fair value less 
costs to sell cannot be determined with reasonable 
effort, the value in use is recognized.

The value in use of the cash generating unit was 
determined as follows: Based on the bottom-
up planning for the next four financial years as 
approved by the management of  Softing AG, the 
future cash flows (before interest and taxes) of the 
cash generating unit were determined. The plan-
ning is based on historical data and the best pos-
sible estimates of management regarding future 
developments. In order to carry out the impair-
ment test, the management estimated the cash 
generated beyond the planning period, assum-
ing that growth of 1.5 % (previous year: 1.5 %) is 
recorded in future years. The value in use of the 
underlying cash generating unit was determined 
by applying the discounted cash flow method. The 
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate and reflects the 
specific risks of the Group company in question. In 
each case, it is calculated using the capital asset 
pricing model (CAPM), 

under which the costs of capital are comprised of 
the risk-free interest rate and a risk premium cal-
culated as the difference of the average market 
return and the risk-free interest rate multiplied by 
the company-specific risk (beta factor). The beta 
factor for this is derived from a group of com-
parable companies. When determining the value 
in use, discount rates before taxes are taken as a 
basis for each cash-generating unit. 

An impairment loss recognized on goodwill is not 
reversed in future periods.
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7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for consideration are 
carried at amortized cost. They are amortized in 
accordance with their respective useful life using 
the straight-line method. 

Software and technology is amortized over a 
period of three to seven years in accordance with 
its respective useful life using the straight-line 
method. Rights and business relations are amor-
tized over a period of five to twenty years.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost, 
less accumulated depreciation, usage-based accu-
mulated deprecation and usage-based accumu-
lated impairment losses. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
using the straight-line method in accordance with 
its useful life. Hardware is depreciated over three 
years; furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 
five to seven years, and new equipment installed is 
depreciated over the remaining term of the lease. 
If fixed assets are disposed, cost and accumulated 
depreciation are derecognized; income/loss from 

the disposal of fixed assets is recognized in the 
income statement under other operating income/
expenses.

Costs related to repairs and maintenance work 
are recognized as expenses at the time they are 
incurred. Significant renovations and improve-
ments are only allocated to the carrying amount 
of the original asset or capitalized as a separate 
asset if it is probable that economic benefits will 
flow to the Group in connection with that asset in 
the future, and these benefits can be estimated 
reliably.
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9. IMPAIRMENT

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of intan-
gible assets and property, plant and equipment at 
each reporting date for indications of impairment. 
In this case, the recoverable amount of the rele-
vant asset is determined for the purpose of deter-
mining the scope of the potential impairment loss. 

The recoverable amount corresponds to the fair 
value less costs to sell or the value in use, which-
ever is higher. The value in use corresponds to the 
present value of the estimated cash flows. An inter-
est rate before taxes that corresponds to market 
rates is used as the discount rate. If no recoverable 
amount can be determined for an individual asset, 
the recoverable amount for the smallest identifi-
able class of assets (cash generating unit – CGU), 
to which the respective asset can be allocated, is 
determined. Goodwill resulting from acquisitions 

are allocated to the CGUs that are to reap the ben-
efits from the synergies arising from the acquisi-
tion. Such cash generating units represent the low-
est reporting level in the Group at which manage-
ment monitors the goodwill for internal control 
purposes. The recoverable amount of a CGU that 
contains goodwill is tested for impairment at least 
once a year. An impairment loss is recognized for 
an asset immediately if its recoverable amount is 
lower than its carrying amount. If the recoverable 
amount of the asset or the CGU is determined to 
be higher after an impairment loss has been rec-
ognized, the write-down of the asset or the CGU 
is reversed up to no more than the recoverable 
amount. The reversal of the write-down is limited 
to the carrying amount that would have applied 
absent the write-down. The write-up is recognized 
in profit or loss.

10. LEASES

The Company has only entered into operating 
leases. The lease payments are recognized over 

the relevant term on a straight-line basis. There are 
no finance lease agreements.
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11. INVENTORIES

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value. As a rule, production supplies 
and goods for resale/finished merchandise are rec-
ognized at the weighted average.

Production costs comprise material and produc-
tion costs overheads directly attributable to the 
production process as well as reasonable amounts 
of the production-related overheads. Produc-
tion costs do not include selling costs and general 

administration costs. If the net realizable value at 
the balance sheet date is below cost, for instance 
because of long periods of storage, damage or 
reduced marketability, inventories are written 
down to the lower value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price of the item in the course 
of ordinary business less estimated costs incurred 
until completion and less estimated necessary sell-
ing costs.

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are only recognized if  Softing is 
a party to the agreement governing the financial 
assets. Financial assets are derecognized when the 
rights to cash flows from a financial asset expire 
or are transferred to a third party. When transfer-
ring rights, the criteria of IAS 39 with regard to the 
transfer of rewards and risks connected to owning 
the financial assets must be taken into account.

At  Softing, financial assets are categorized as fol-
lows: (a) financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss; (b) loans and receivables; and (c) avail-
able-for-sale financial assets. The categorization 
depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired. Management determines 
the categorization of financial assets upon initial 
recognition.

a. Financialliabilitiesatfairvaluethroughprofit
or loss
Assets classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss are financial assets held for trading pur-
poses. A financial asset is assigned to this cat-
egory if it was as a rule acquired for the pur-
pose of being a short-term purchase. Assets 
in this category are reported as current assets 
if the sale of these assets is expected within 
12 months. All other assets are classified as 
non-current assets.

b. loansandreceivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed and determinable 
payments that are not quoted on an active 
market. They are classified as current assets as 
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long as they are not due more than 12 months 
after the reporting date. If this 12-month 
period is exceeded, they are reported as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are 
reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position under “Trade receivables 
and other receivables” and “Cash and cash 
equivalents.”

c. Available-for-salefinancialassets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivative assets that were either assigned to 
this category or none of the other categories 
presented here. They are classified as non-cur-
rent assets, if management does not intend to 
sell them within 12 months after the report-
ing date, and the asset is not due within this 
period.

Financial assets that are not classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially measured 
at their fair value plus transaction costs. Financial 
assets belonging to this category are initially mea-
sured at their fair value; associated transaction 
costs are recognized in profit or loss. For subse-
quent measurement, financial assets are allocated 
to the categories listed above. 
 
The following applies to subsequent measurement:

Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

Financial assets held for sale are recognized at 
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses from 
exchange rate changes being shown in other 
comprehensive income until realization. If there 
is objective evidence that the financial asset is 
impaired, the cumulative loss that had been rec-
ognized other comprehensive income is removed 
from equity and recognized in profit or loss. The 
Company includes all available information such 
as market conditions and prices, factors specific to 
the given investment as well as duration and scope 
of the decline in the fair value below the cost to 
assess whether the financial assets available for 
sale are impaired.  Softing considers any decline 
that exceeds 20 % of the cost or continues for 
more than six months as an objective indication of 
impairment.  Softing reverses an impairment loss in 
subsequent periods if the reasons for the impair-
ment no longer exist.

If there is objective evidence of impairment, an 
allowance equaling the difference between the 
carrying amount and present value of estimated 
future cash flows is recognized. Objective indica-
tions include, for example, a considerable or long-
term decline in the fair value of a financial asset 
to a level lower than the carrying amount, a high 
probability of insolvency or other types of restruc-
turing, or a breach of contract by the issuer such as 
considerable payment delays.
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Financial assets of all categories are recognized as 
of their settlement date. Financial assets comprise 
the statement of financial position items cash and 
cash equivalents, trade receivables, securities and 
other financial receivables.

Trade Receivables and Other Financial 
Receivables
Both trade receivables and other financial receiv-
ables are classified as “loans and receivables” and 
measured accordingly.

Securities, Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Securities are classified as available-for-sale finan-
cial assets and accounted for at their fair value. 
Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income as part of the revalua-
tion surplus, allowing for deferred taxes. In case of 
impairment, the revaluation surplus is adjusted by 
the amount of the impairment, and the respective 
amount is recognized in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise all liquid 
assets with remaining maturities of less than three 
months on the date of acquisition or investment. 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at their 
nominal value.

Classes of Financial Instruments Measurement categories of financial instruments

Non-current financial assets

Othernon-currentfinancialassets loansandreceivables

Otherfinancialreceivables(>1year) loansandreceivables

Current financial assets

tradereceivables loansandreceivables

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts loansandreceivables

Currentfinancialassets loansandreceivables

Financialreceivables(<1year) loansandreceivables

Cashandcashequivalents loansandreceivables

Non-current liabilities 

Otherlong-termborrowings>1years Measuredatamortizedcostoratfairvalue

Current financial liabilities

tradepayables Measuredatamortizedcost

Currentfinancialliabilities Measuredatamortizedcostoratfairvalue

Categories of Financial Instruments
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14. OTHER ASSETS

The other assets comprise non-financial assets. 
They are initially measured at fair value and then 
are recognized at depreciated or amortized cost.

15. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES

The tax expense for the period comprises current 
and deferred taxes.

Taxes are recognized in the income statement 
unless they relate to an item that was recog-
nized directly in equity or in other comprehensive 
income. In this case, the taxes are also recognized 
in equity or in other comprehensive income.

The current tax expense is measured based on the 
tax regulations of the countries in which  Softing 
and its subsidiaries do business and generate tax-
able income that are applicable on the reporting 
date (or applicable in the near future). Manage-
ment regularly reviews tax returns, particularly with 
regard to circumstances open to interpretation 

and, where appropriate, recognizes provisions in 
the amounts the Company is expected to have to 
pay to the tax authorities. Income taxes are deter-
mined using the balance sheet liability method. 

As a rule, deferred tax assets and deferred tax lia-
bilities are recognized for all temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of an asset or liabil-
ity and its fair value determined for tax purposes. 
Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax loss 
carryforwards and tax credits.

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards must 
be recognized to the extent that the future use 
of these tax loss carryforwards is probable. All 
deferred tax assets on tax losses were therefore 
recognized taking their realizability into account.

13. CUSTOMER-SPECIFIC  
conStruction contractS

Customer-specific construction contracts (soft-
ware development for customers) are recog-
nized according to the percentage of completion 
method under IAS 11, which stipulates that rev-
enue must be recognized in accordance with the 
stage of completion. The stage of completion is 
the proportion that contract costs incurred for 
work performed to date bear to the total contract 
costs (cost-to-cost method). Recognition must 
be reliable as stipulated in IAS 18.14. Advances 

received are offset against the degree of comple-
tion of the construction contracts. Contract work 
is recognized under receivables arising from cus-
tomer-specific construction contracts to the extent 
that in individual cases the degree of completion 
exceeds the advances received”. Any negative bal-
ance remaining after deduction of the advances is 
recognized under liabilities arising from customer-
specific construction contracts.
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Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the 
tax rates which, based on the current legal situa-
tion, apply at the time of realization or which are 
expected to apply in the individual countries. The 
effect of changes in tax rates on deferred taxes is 
recognized in profit or loss, or in equity, at the time 
the legal changes become effective.

Deferred tax assets are only recognized in the 
amount in which it is probable that taxable income 
will be available against which temporary differ-
ences can be applied.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets, which arise 
through temporary differences in the context of 
investments in subsidiaries are recognized, unless 
the Group can determine when the temporary dif-
ferences reverse and it is probable that the tempo-
rary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future as a result of this effect.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or dif-
ferent taxable entities where there is an intention 
to settle the balances on a net basis.

16. PENSION PROVISIONS

Provisions for defined benefit pension plans are 
measured in accordance with IAS 19 using the 
projected unit credit method. This method takes 
into account not only the pensions and bene-
fits accrued but also expected future pension 
increases based on a prudent assessment of rel-
evant factors. Calculation is based on actuarial 
expert opinions taking into consideration biometri-
cal assumptions and a discount rate derived from 
the yield of high-quality corporate bonds with 

matching maturities. The amount of the provision 
for defined benefit plans recognized in the state-
ment of financial position corresponds to the pres-
ent value of the defined benefit obligation on the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan 
assets. The present value is calculated by discount-
ing the expected future cash flows at an interest 
rate applicable to high-quality corporate bonds. 
Actuarial remeasurements are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.
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17. PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

The other provisions are recognized for all other 
contingent liabilities and risks of the  Softing Group 
toward third parties. They are recognized only if 
the current obligation (factually or legally) arises 
from a past event, if utilization is probable, and 
if the amount of the obligation can be estimated 

reliably. The amount recognized comprises the 
present value of the expected expenditure, includ-
ing interest cost, if any, on non-current provisions, 
required to settle the present obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date.

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are only recognized if  Softing 
is a party to the agreement governing the finan-
cial liabilities. Financial liabilities are removed from 
the statement of financial position when they have 
been extinguished, i. e. when the obligations speci-
fied in the contract are discharged or canceled or 
expire.

Upon initial recognition, general and specific bor-
rowings are measured at fair value after deduction 

of transaction costs. They are subsequently meas-
ured at amortized cost. Any difference between 
the disbursement amount (after deduction of 
transaction costs) and the repayment amount 
is amortized over the term of the loan using the 
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities comprise the statement of 
financial position items “Trade payables” and “Cur-
rent financial liabilities”.

19. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings include current liabilities to 
banks. Short-term borrowings are initially recog-
nized at fair value.

20. OTHER LIABILITIES 

The other liabilities concern non-financial liabilities 
and are recognized at their repayment amount.
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21. EXERCISE OF JUDGMENT AND 
eStimate uncertaintieS

The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with the provisions of the IASB 
requires forward-looking assumptions to be made 
and estimates to be used that have an effect on the 
carrying amounts of recognized assets and liabil-
ities, income, expenses, and contingent liabilities. 
The forward-looking assumptions and estimates 
essentially relate to the uniform determination of 
useful lives throughout the Group, the recognition 
and measurement of provisions (in particular pen-
sion provisions), and the realizability of future tax 
benefits as well as the material exercise of judg-
ment with regard to the expected time of occur-
rence, the amount of the future taxable income, 
and future tax planning strategies (tax forecasts). 
As a rule, the forward-looking assumptions and 
estimates are based on experience and knowledge 
gained from the past; they also take into account 
macroeconomic factors which might be used as a 
reliable basis. Forecasts are intrinsically uncertain 
and difficult especially because they are forward-
looking. In individual cases, the actual values may 
deviate from the assumptions and estimates. The 
assumptions and estimates are reviewed regularly. 
Changes are recognized in profit or loss as of the 
time better knowledge is obtained, or in the period 
in which better knowledge is obtained, as well as 
in future periods if the changes comprise several 
periods.

The most important forward-looking assumptions 
and other material sources of estimate uncertain-
ties as of the closing date that could result in a con-
siderable risk of having to make significant adjust-
ments to the recognized assets and liabilities in the 
next financial year concern the measurement of 
pension provisions, and the possible impairment 
of goodwill. The weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) and the tax rates are the material param-
eters for carrying out the annual impairment test 
of goodwill. 

Recognizing sales based on the percentage-of-com-
pletion method entails recognizing them based on 
the stage of completion. This method requires 
careful assessment of the stage of completion. Fac-
tors such as contract revenue, total contract costs, 
costs yet to be incurred until completion and con-
tract risks are material to the estimate. 

There is discretion in assessing the criteria relevant 
to the capitalization of development costs and the 
amount of the hourly rates for personnel used in 
the capitalization. The following assessments, in 
particular, are subject to our discretion: whether 
the given asset possesses technical and commer-
cial utility for sale or own use; whether we plan on 
and are capable of completing the intangible asset 
and either using or selling it; and whether the asset 
will generate a future economic benefit.
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22. CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign currencies are translated using the func-
tional currency method as defined in IAS 21. The 
functional currency of all foreign subsidiaries is 
the respective local currency – with the excep-
tion of Psiber in Singapore, where the functional 
currency is the USD. This is because the material 
foreign companies that are included in the con-
solidated financial statements operate their busi-
nesses independently in financial, economic and 
organizational terms primarily in their respective 
economic environment. The exchange rate risk 
within the  Softing Group is essentially restricted to 
USD and RON.
 
For Group companies which do not report in EUR, 
the assets and liabilities are translated into euros 
at the exchange rate applicable at the balance 

sheet date, and expenses and income are trans-
lated at the annual average exchange rate for the 
purpose of preparing consolidated financial state-
ments. Equity is translated at historical rates. Cur-
rency translation differences, including those aris-
ing from acquisition accounting, are recognized in 
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising during 
an acquisition of a foreign entity are recognized as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and trans-
lated at the rate of exchange on the closing date. 
All resulting currency translation differences are 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

The euro exchange rates applicable for currency 
translation changed as follows:

USD / eUR RON / eUR

2016 2015 2016 2015

Closingrate(Dec.31) 1.05 1.09 4.54 4.52

Averageexchangerate 1.11 1.11 4.49 4.45

Currency gains or losses resulting from foreign 
currency transactions (transaction in a currency 
other than a company’s functional currency) are 

reported as other operating income or other oper-
ating expenses in the individual financial state-
ments of the Group companies.
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C. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
Statement oF Financial poSition

1. CHANGES IN THE BASIS OF 
conSoliDation

Shanghai  Softing software Co.,Ltd. China
 Softing Shanghai  Softing software Co.,Ltd./China 
is a Shanghai-based company established in 2016 
by  Softing Services GmbH. It provides the legal and 
organizational framework for the sales and mar-
keting activities of the  Softing Group in China. The 
company was consolidated for the first time effec-
tive August 1, 2016.

 Softing Automotive Electronics Services GmbH
 Softing Automotive Electronics Services GmbH/
Kirchentellinsfurt is a development company 
founded by  Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH 
for its current and future products. The com-
pany was consolidated for the first time effective 
December 23, 2016.

Automotive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt 
GmbH
Going forward, Automotive Communications 
Kirchen tellinsfurt GmbH is set to bundle the com-
munications activities. The company was consoli-
dated for the first time effective December 23, 
2016.

Due to the change in the EUR/USD exchange rate, 
the goodwill of OLDI Online Development Inc. 
changed by EUR 250 thousand in 2016.

The entities’ goodwill was tested for impairment 
pursuant to IAS 36. The recoverable amount of the 
CGUs was determined based on a calculation of 
the entities’ value in use. The impairment test did 
not result in any need to write down the goodwill. 
The following parameters were used for the items 
of goodwill:

• Discount rates before taxes 7.70 % – 12.20 % 
(previous year: 10.30 % – 13.95 %)

• Risk-free interest rate: 1.00 % – 3.10 %  
(previous year: 1.50 % – 3.00 %)

• Risk premium: 6.00 % – 6.50 %  
(previous year: 5.80 % – 6.50 %)

• Beta factor (weighted average of a group of 
comparable companies): 0.93 – 1.02  
(previous year: 1.17 – 1.21)

A change in the interest rate by 100 basis points 
would not lead to a write-down of goodwill, nei-
ther would a decrease in the planned gross reve-
nue by 5 %.

Dec. 31, 2016 
EUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2015 
EUR (in thsds.)

SoftingMessenundtestenGmbh 2,055 2,055

SoftingindustrialAutomationGmbh 384 384

SoftingitNetworksGmbh(PsiberDataGmbh) 5,181 5,181

OlDiOnlineDevelopmentinc. 7,623 6,836

Goodwill 15,243 14,456

2. GOODWILL



CONSOLIDATED NOTES

The material planning premises include, in par-
ticular, the expected development of the market 
in relation to the performance of  Softing AG, the 
change in both sales and profits and the weighted 
average cost of capital. General market forecasts 
and current developments as well as historical 
experience are used to establish the assumptions. 
In particular, the long-term growth rates reflect cir-
cumstances specific to the business.

Besides sales, the margin is the material driver 
of value in the determination of the recoverable 
amount. The discount rate also has a significant 
impact on the measurement gain or loss.

The margin is adjusted to expected developments 
in the market during the budgetary period.

3. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The change in capitalized development costs is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (appendix to the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Expenditures for research and development (with-
out capitalized development costs) in the financial 
year just ended totaled EUR 19,460 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 18,900 thousand).

No impairment losses were recognized in addition 
to amortization.

The following overview shows the total expendi-
tures for research and development:

4. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The development of other intangible assets is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (appendix to the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements). 
No impairment losses were recognized in addition 
to amortization.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

The development of property, plant and equip-
ment is shown in the changes in intangible assets 

and property, plant and equipment. No impairment 
losses were recognized in addition to depreciation.

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Capitalizeddevelopmentcosts 4,512 2,786

expensesnotqualifyingforcapitalization 19,460 18,900

23,972 21,686
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6. LEASES

The other operating expenses contain rental and 
lease expenses for buildings and cars of EUR 1,576 
thousand (previous year: EUR 2,021 thousand).

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Rawmaterialsandconsumables 2,803 3,089

Finishedgoods 6,411 6,224

inventories 9,214 9,313

7. INVENTORIES

Valuation allowances recognized in 2016 total 
EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 210 thou-
sand). As in the previous year, no reversals of 
impairment losses were recognized in profit or 

loss. The purchased inventories are subject to 
reser vation of title until the purchase price receiv-
able has been settled.

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

tradereceivables 11,742 14,976

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts 848 431

12,590 15,407

Aging structure of financial instruments from trade 
receivables and other receivables

Carrying
amount

Ofwhichneitherpast
duenorimpaired

Ofwhichnotimpairedandpastduewithin 
thefollowingtimebands

Less 
than  

90 days

91 to  
180 days

181 to  
360 days

More 
than  

360 days

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)

tradereceivables 11,742 9,303 2,148 289 0 0

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstruc-
tioncontracts 848 848 0 0 0 0

12,590 10,151 2,148 289 0 0
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The maximum counterparty credit risk corre-
sponds to the receivables’ carrying amount. 

As of Jan. 1 
eUR(inthsds.)

Use 
eUR(inthsds.)

Reversal
eUR(inthsds.)

Addition 
eUR(inthsds.)

AsofDec.31 
eUR(inthsds.)

2016 294 38 0 39 295

2015 191 6 0 109 294

9. RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES FROM 
CUSTOMER-SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION 
contractS

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts 848 431

Payablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts 1,027 617

net amount  –179  –186

Carrying
amount

Ofwhichneitherpast
duenorimpaired

Ofwhichnotimpairedandpastduewithin 
thefollowingtimebands

Less 
than  

90 days

91 to 
180 days

181 to 
360 days

More 
than  

360 days

Dec. 31, 2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)
eUR 

(inthsds.)

tradereceivables 14,976 12,398 2,572 6 0 0

Receivablesfromcustomer-specific
constructioncontracts 431 431 0 0 0 0

15,407 12,829 2,572 6 0 0

Impairment losses changed as follows:
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10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Receivablesfromemployees 13 18

Otherfinancialreceivables 81 137

Prepaidexpenses/prepayments 317 435

Advancespaid 44 20

Other assets 257 205

712 815

11. CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS

The current income tax assets concern corporation 
tax receivables amounting to EUR 626 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 504 thousand). The Group’s 
taxes are described in detail in section D 9. 

12. CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS, CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Cashandcashequivalents 10,867 9,186

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and 
bank balances and are measured at their nomi-
nal value as of the balance sheet date. Bank bal-
ances comprise time deposits and current account 
funds; these time deposit can be liquidated within 
three months. Cash and cash equivalents are not 
impacted significantly by foreign currencies. The 
maximum counterparty credit risk corresponds to 
the carrying amounts.

The current financial assets amounting to EUR 0 
thousand (previous year: EUR 124 thousand) in the 
previous year included a supplier loan for the pro-
curement of materials in connection with a con-
struction contract. 
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13. EqUITY

Subscribed Capital
As of the balance sheet date, the fully paid-in share 
capital of the Company was EUR 6,959,438.00 (pre-
vious year: EUR 6,959 thousand). It is divided into 
6,959,438 (previous year: 6,959,438) no-par-value 
bearer shares. An average of 6,959,438 shares 
were outstanding in the reporting year. All no-par 
shares grant identical rights, especially identical 
voting rights. No shareholder or shareholder group 
has special rights.

Shareholders’ voting rights are not restricted by 
law or the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. 
The voting rights are not limited to a specific num-
ber of shares or votes.

For more information, please see the disclosures 
under Section 315 para 4 German Commercial 
Code in the management report.

Authorized Capital
The Executive Board is authorized to increase the 
Company’s share capital with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board once or several times by up to 
EUR 3,479,719.00 by issuing up to 3,479,719 new 
no-par bearer shares against contributions in cash 
and/or in kind (authorized capital) until May 5, 
2020. The Executive Board is also authorized to 
disapply shareholders’ statutory pre-emptive right 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board

• as necessary for offsetting fractional shares;
• if the shares are issued against in-kind contribu-

tions for the purpose of acquiring companies or 
equity interests in companies or business units 
or for the purpose of acquiring receivables from 
the given entity;

• if a capital increase against cash contributions 
does not exceed 10 % of the share capital and 
the issue price of the new shares is not sub-
stantially lower than the share price pursuant 
to Section 186 para 3 sentence 4 German Stock 
Corporation Act. Disapplying shareholders’ pre-
emptive right under other authorizations pur-
suant to Section 186 para 3 sentence 4 German 
Stock Corporation Act shall be considered in 
connection with any exercise of this authoriza-
tion under the aforementioned statute.

The Executive Board is authorized to fix all other 
details of the capital increase and its implementa-
tion. The Supervisory Board is authorized to amend 
the Articles of Incorporation such that they reflect 
the extent of each capital increase from authorized 
capital.

The authorized capital as of December 31, 
2016, was EUR 3,479,719.00 (previous year: 
EUR 3,479,719.00).

Profits for the year eligible for distribution were 
determined based on the net retained profits of 
 Softing AG pursuant to the German Commercial 
Code.
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Contingent Capital
The share capital is increased by up to 
EUR 3,221,256.00 by issuing up to 3,221,256 new 
no-par bearer shares against contributions in cash 
and/or in kind (Contingent Capital 2013). The con-
tingent capital increase will serve the granting of 
option rights or obligations to the holders of war-
rants arising from bonds with warrants under the 
terms of the respective options or the granting of 
conversion rights or obligations to the holders of 
convertible bonds under the terms of the respec-
tive convertible bonds issued by the Company up 
to May 6, 2018 in accordance with the resolution 
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 7, 
2013. The new shares will be issued at the respec-
tive option or conversion price to be determined 
in accordance with the above-mentioned authori-
zation resolution. The contingent capital increase 
will be implemented only in the event that bonds 
with warrants or convertible bonds are issued and 
only to the extent that the holders of the bonds 
with warrants or the convertible bonds make use 
of their option or conversion right or the holders 
of bonds obligated to convert or to exercise the 
option fulfill this obligation and the contingent 
capital is needed in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the bond with warrants or the con-
vertible bond. The new shares issued on the basis 
of the exercise of the option or conversion right or 
the fulfillment of the conversion or option obliga-
tion have a share in the profit from the beginning 
of the financial year in which they arise. The Execu-
tive Board is authorized, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to stipulate the further details 
of the implementation of the contingent capital 
increase. Said authority was not exercised to date.

capital reserves
The capital reserves contain the premium on the 
issue of shares less transaction costs. 

retained earnings
Retained earnings include the accumulated, undis-
tributed profits of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Retained earnings also include the differences 
from the currency translation and the associated 
deferred taxes of transactions made by foreign 
subsidiaries, changes in the fair value of financial 
instruments not recognized through profit or loss, 
and the remeasurements from pension obliga-
tions and their deferred tax effects not recognized 
through profit or loss.

The other comprehensive income is shown in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests in the amount of 
EUR –17 thousand (previous year: EUR –30 thou-
sand) concern other shareholders in Austria.

treasury Shares
No treasury share transactions took place in 2016; 
the sale of treasury shares in 2015 resulted in 
a profit of EUR 855 thousand, which is shown in 
retained earnings.

As of the reporting date,  Softing AG did not hold 
any treasury shares. 

The changes in consolidated equity including 
the changes from acquisitions are presented in 
the table “Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity” 2016/2015.
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14. PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS

This item concerns the partially reinsured and 
defined benefit pension commitments granted to 
the three former members and one current mem-
ber of the Executive Board, which provide for life-
long retirement and widow’s benefits, as well as 
orphans’ benefits in the event one or both parents 
are lost. There is a variable commitment in addi-
tion to a fixed commitment. The amount of ben-
efits is determined individually. The liabilities in 
connection with the pension plans are determined 
annually by independent experts in accordance 
with the projected unit credit method. The capi-
talized value of the reinsurance cover of EUR 2,887 
thousand (previous year: EUR 2,777 thousand) 
was offset against pension provisions. Actuarial 

remeasurements were recognized immediately in 
retained earnings in accordance with IAS 19.120. 
The cumulative gains and losses reported in this 
item were EUR – 1,358 thousand as of December 
31, 2016 (previous year: EUR – 1,072 thousand).

The pensions under variable commitments 
increase or decrease in line with the change in the 
Consumer Price Index for Germany (2010 = 100); It 
rose from 106.9 points to 107.4 points on average 
between 2015 and 2016.

The actuarial assumptions on which the calculation 
is based are summarized in the following table:

Basisofcalculation
Dec.31,2016 

%
Dec.31,2015 

%

Assumedinterestrate 1.6 2.15

Salarytrend 0.0 0.0

expectedrateofpensionincrease 1.10 1.10

Anticipatedemployeeturnoverrate 0.0 0.0

Biometric basis of calculation Mortality Tables 2005 G / Prof. Dr. Heubeck
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Developmentoftheobligation
2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
2015 

eUR(inthsds.)

DBOasofJanuary1 4,638 4,836

Servicecost 125 125

interestexpense 98 95

Pensionpaymentstopensioners –168 –168

Expected DBO as of December 31 4,693 4,888

actualDBOasofDecember31 5,124 4,638

Remeasurements,ofwhich 432 –250

effectsfromadjustingtheassumedinterestrate 408 –114

effectsfromchangesintrendassumptions 0 –134

effectsfromexperienceadjustments 23 –2

The average remaining life of the obligation is 
15.5 years (previous year: 16.5 years).

Calculationofannualincomeandannualexpense
2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
2015 

eUR(inthsds.)

interestincome 60 54

interestexpense 98 95

Servicecost 125 125

annual expense 163 166



CONSOLIDATED NOTES

Developmentofplanassets
2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
2015 

eUR(inthsds.)

PlanassetsasofJanuary1 2,777 2,675

Paymentfromplanassets –93 –94

Paymentsintotheemployer’splanassets 107 107

interestearnedfromplanassets 60 54

Adjustmentofplanassets 35 35

Plan assets as of December 31 2,887 2,777

Only reinsurance policies not quoted on an active 
market are taken out to hedge obligations aris-
ing from pensions. Each of these policies relates 
directly to the underlying pension commitment. 

The expected contributions to plan assets amount 
to EUR 107 thousand in 2017 (previous year: 
EUR 107 thousand).

Reconciliationwiththestatementoffinancialposition
Dec.31,2016 
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015 
eUR(inthsds.)

Presentvalueofthedefinedbenefitobligations(DBO) 5,124 4,638

Fairvalueoftheexternalplanassets 2,887 2,777

provision 2,237 1,860

Developmentoftheprovision
2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
2015 

eUR(inthsds.)

ProvisionasofJanuary1 1,860 2,161

Servicecost 125 125

Netinterestexpense/income 38 40

Actuarialremeasurements,ofwhich 432 –250

 effectsfromadjustingtheassumedinterestrate 408 –114

 effectsfromchangesintrendassumptions 0 –134

 effectsfromexperienceadjustments 24 –2

Adjustmentofplanassets –35 –35

Paymentsmade –74 –74

Paymentsintoplanassets –107 –107

Provisions as of December 31 2,237 1,860
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The sensitivity of the overall pension obligation to 
changes in the weighted main assumptions is:

effectontheobligation

Changeinthe 
assumption–

Changeinthe 
assumption+

RelativeAuswirkungeinerÄnderungdesZinsänderungaufDBO2016
0.25 % 0.25 %

+4.3 % –4.1 %

RelativeAuswirkungeinerÄnderungdesZinsänderungaufDBO2015
0.25 % 0.25 %

+4.2 % –3.9 %

effectontheobligation

Changeinthe 
assumption–

Changeinthe 
assumption+

RelativeeffectofachangeinthepensiontrendonDBO2016
0.25 % 0.25 %

–1.6 % 1.7 %

RelativeeffectofachangeinthepensiontrendonDBO2015
0.25 % 0.25 %

–1.7 % +1.8 %

No sensitivity analysis based on life expectancy 
was presented because participants in question 
include only three former beneficiaries and one 
active beneficiary.

The sensitivities were determined by changing 
one parameter while leaving all other parameters 
unchanged.

Pension payments of EUR 168 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 168 thousand) and interest income 
of EUR 46 thousand (previous year: EUR 60 thou-
sand) are expected for the 2017 financial year.

15. NON-CURRENT BORROWINGS AND 
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The non-current portion of the loans used to 
finance the purchase price of OLDI Online Devel-
opment Inc. amounts to EUR 6,477 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 7,288 thousand); is it shown under 
other long-term borrowings. Short-term repay-
ment is also possible. In the course of obtaining 
these loans,  Softing AG agreed to comply with 
financial covenants entailing an obligation to 

maintain certain financial ratios. The financial cove-
nants require  Softing to maintain a specified equity 
ratio and not exceed a maximum debt-to-equity 
ratio. During the financial year,  Softing AG had no 
problem fulfilling both of these conditions. Longer-
range planning also does not indicate any deteri-
oration that would affect the financial covenants.
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16. TRADE PAYABLES AND PAYABLES FROM 
CUSTOMER-SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION 
contractS

The trade payables of EUR 4,856 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 5,698 thousand) exclusively con-
cern current liabilities toward non-Group third-
parties for supplied goods and services. All trade 

payables are due and payable within one year. The 
payables from customer-specific construction con-
tracts amount to EUR 1,027 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 617 thousand).

17. PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The other provisions are recognized for all other 
contingent liabilities and risks of the  Softing Group 
toward third parties. They are recognized only 
if utilization is probable and the amount of the 

obligation can be estimated reliably. The amount 
recognized is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date.

As of  
Jan.1,2016 

eUR(inthsds.)

 
Use 

eUR(inthsds.)

 
Reversal

eUR(inthsds.)

 
Addition 

eUR(inthsds.)

As of  
Dec.31,2016 
eUR(inthsds.)

Warranties 142 124 18 147 147

Other 541 90 311 0 140

total 683 214 329 147 287

This exclusively comprises current provisions that 
are estimated to become due within one year.

As agreed, the variable portions of the purchase 
price for OLDI fell within a range from EUR 0 thou-
sand to EUR 9,000 thousand, depending on target 
attainment. The purchase price agreements stipu-
lated a maximum cap for these amounts. Due to the 
revenue and earnings performance of OLDI during 
the period under review, the fair value was deter-
mined to be EUR 4,269 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 8,267 thousand) and is based on the final rev-
enue and EBIT in the underlying contractual agree-
ments. EUR 4,067 thousand was reversed on the 
basis of this determination. Since payment of the 
remaining variable portion of the purchase price of 
OLDI is due in 2017, the liability was reported in 
current financial liabilities.
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19. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

The current portion of the loans used to finance 
the purchase price of OLDI Online Development 
Inc. (EUR 1,241 thousand), the current portion of 
a loan granted to a former shareholder (EUR 354 
thousand), a loan of  Softing IT Networks GmbH 

(EUR 66 thousand) and a short-term utilization of 
a bank line (EUR 1,000 thousand) as of the report-
ing date amounts to EUR 2,660 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 1,737 thousand) and is due for repay-
ment or prolongation.

20. CURRENT NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

liabilitiesrelatedtosocialsecurity 346 323

Othertaxliabilitiesprimarily(salesandwagetax) 1,286 1,355

Deferredincome 1,284 2,341

Other 49 183

2,965 4,202

21. CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Wagesandsalariespayable 3,158 2,194

Currentvariablepurchasepricesfromacquisitions 4,269 1,400

Other 184 193

7,611 3,787

18. INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

In the financial year just ended, liabilities of 
EUR 2,166 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,529 
thousand) were recognized for expected tax 

payments. The Group’s taxes are described in 
detail in section D 9.
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D. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
income Statement

1. REVENUE

Revenuebyregions:
2016

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

Germany 30,586 32,386

USA 26,838 27,928

Othercountries 23,001 21,992

80,424 82,306

Revenuebyproductsandservices:
2016

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

Products 71,305 67,911

Services 9,120 14,395

80,424 82,306

Revenue includes a change of EUR 65 thousand 
(previous year: EUR – 243 thousand) from long-
term construction contracts reported using the 
percentage of completion method. Here, the 
Group estimates the proportion of the total of ser-
vices to be provided that have already been per-
formed by the reporting date. 

Revenue from construction contracts of the period 
amounted to EUR 6,144 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 7,366 thousand).

In 2016, two customers exceeded the reve-
nue threshold of 10 % of Group revenue, at 12 % 
and 13 %, respectively. In 2015, two customers 
exceeded the revenue threshold of 10 % of Group 
revenue, at 12 % and 16 %, respectively. 

For detailed information on operating segments, 
we refer to the segment reporting (see chapter E1).

2. OTHER OWN WORK CAPITALIzED

Other own work capitalized concerns costs for/
investments in the development of new software 
products.
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3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

theotheroperatingincomecomprisesthefollowingitems:
2016

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

Reversalofprovisions 0 16

incomefromexchangedifferences 355 236

Revenuefromthereductionofvaluationallowances 38 6

insurancecompensationpayment 661 2,271

Salescommission 28 38

incomefromreceivableswrittenoff 15 0

Rechargedcosts 17 31

incomefromthereductionofthevariablepurchaseprice 4,067 130

Otherincome 157 109

5,338 2,837

4. COST OF MATERIALS

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Purchaseofcomponentsandproducts 30,160 30,360

third-partyservices 1,193 1,519

31,353 31,879

5. STAFF COSTS 

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Currentsalaries 27,245 25,958

Socialsecurityandretirementbenefitcosts 4,714 4,525

Profit-sharing,royalties 2,947 2,800

Useofcompanycarsbyemployees 3 3

Othertemporaryworkers 213 268

35,122 33,554

The statutory pension scheme in Germany 
is treated as a defined contribution scheme. 
Expenses recognized for the statutory pension 

scheme total EUR 1,473 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 1,477 thousand).
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6. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIzATION

Depreciation and amortization are listed in detail 
in the statement of changes in assets (appendix 
to the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments). No impairment losses were recognized 
in 2016. Impairment losses of EUR 37 thousand 

were recognized in 2015 for the fire damage at the 
 Softing Messen und Testen GmbH subsidiary. No 
reversals of impairment losses were recognized in 
the past year.

7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

theotheroperatingexpensesareasfollows:
2016

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

employee-relatedcosts 339 395

infrastructurecosts 2,777 2,599

Distributioncosts 3,351 3,744

Consultingcosts 906 884

third-partyservices 775 735

Capitalmarketcosts 402 380

Contributionsandfees 113 140

Operatingcosts 668 690

Othercosts,fire-related 28 1,021

exchangedifferences 205 823

Otherproductdevelopmentexpenses 1,344 499

Other costs 630 332

11,538 11,742

8. INTEREST INCOME/INTEREST EXPENSE

The financial result comprises interest income and 
interest expense.

theinterestexpensebreaksdownasfollows:
2016

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

interestfromunwindingofdiscountsonprovisions 98 95

interestonloans 137 209

Otherinterest 13 19

248 323
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9. INCOME TAXES

theincometaxexpensebreaksdownasfollows:
2016

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

Deferredtaxesontemporarydifferences –302 89

Deferredtaxesontaxlosscarryforwards 310 –809

8 –720

taxexpensefinancialyear 1,255 1,365

taxexpensefrompreviousyears –1 84

Tax expense 1,254 1,448

1,262 728

effectivetaxrate 18.09 % 13.99 %

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differ-
ences between the amounts recognized for finan-
cial reporting purposes and the amounts recog-
nized for tax purposes, and for any differences aris-
ing from uniform measurement and consolidation 

within the Group. Deferred taxes are determined 
based on the applicable country-specific tax rates. 
The underlying domestic tax rate, which has not 
changed compared to the previous year, is deter-
mined as follows:

2016
%

2015
%

Corporationtaxincludingsolidaritysurcharge 15.83 15.83

tradetaxrate 12.25 12.25

28.08 28.08

The deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards in 
Germany and abroad were recognized because in 
the Group’s opinion the loss carryforwards are not 
impaired in the amount recognized due to positive 
tax forecasts and a positive market outlook as of 
the balance sheet date.

Of the total loss carryforwards in the amount of 
EUR 3,974 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,229 
thousand), EUR 3,532 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 4,936 thousand) was recognized on deferred 
tax assets.

interestincomecomprisesthefollowingitems:
2016 

eUR(inthsds.)
2015

eUR(inthsds.)

interestincomefrompensionprovisions 60 54

Otherinterest 3 4

63 58
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The tax loss carryforwards of the individual com-
panies are as follows:

Dec.31,2016
eUR(inthsds.)

Dec.31,2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Usableuntil

BuxbaumAutomationGmbh 258 293 Unlimited

SoftingSingapore(formerlyPsiberDataPte.ltd.) 2,940 4,185 Unlimited

SoftingNorthAmericaholding 562 751 Unlimited

The current income tax expense is derived as fol-
lows from the expected tax expense. As in the pre-
vious year, the calculation for the Group is based 

on the tax rate applicable for  Softing AG, as this 
company is responsible for the main part of the 
Group’s business.

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

earningsbeforetaxes 6,976 5,207

Anticipatedtaxexpense(28.08 %) 1,959 1,462

taxadditionsanddeductions 131 178

Differenttaxrates 279 –415

Deferredtaxes,temporarydifferences,losscarryforwards –894 –611

taxes,previousyears –161 84

Other –52 30

Current tax expense shown in the income statement 1,262 728

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
allocable to the following items:

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Assets liabilities Assets liabilities

intangibleassets 102 3,599 39 3,218

Pensionprovision 671 549

(Ofwhichrecognizeddirectlyinequity) (530) (418)

Currencytranslation 
(recognizeddirectlyinequity)

 
1,248

 
1,077

tradereceivables 1,122 12 562 28

Otherprovisions 277 262

Current assets

Deferredincome 36 17

Futuretaxbenefitsfromlosscarryforwards 656 966

Grossamount/carryingamount 2,864 4,859 2,395 4,323
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E. OTHER DISCLOSURES

1. SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment reporting aims to furnish information on 
the Group’s material divisions. The activities of the 
Group are segmented in accordance with IFRS 8 
using the management approach. Segmentation 
is based on the Group’s internal reporting and 

organizational structure, taking into account the 
different risks and income structures of each indi-
vidual division. The corporate divisions are shown 
in the following table in accordance with IFRS 8.

Segmentation
industrial

Automation
Automotive
electronics

holding,other 
consolidation

Total

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

External sales 57,590 58,663 22,834 23,643 80,424 82,306

Depreciation/ 
amortization

 
3,450

 
3,764

 
1,322

 
1,221

 
328

 
297

 
5,100

 
5,282

Segmentresult 
(operatingeBit)

 
6,000

 
4,863

 
698

 
2,249

 
6,698

 
7,112

Segmentresult(eBit) 4,172 2,210 2,990 3,262 7,162 5,472

Segmentassets 59,303 59,229 18,616 16,297 4,969 6,948 82,888 82,475

Segmentliabilities 13,638 17,278 5,640 6,428 16,043 15,352 35,321 39,058

Capitalexpenditure 1,814 1,254 4,338 2,596 393 591 6,545 4,441

The column entitled “Other consolidation” com-
prises the business activities of  Softing AG’s cen-
tralized units. Their costs are allocated to the 
respective operating segments that caused the 
expenses to be incurred. Due to different technol-
ogies and customer groups, there is no significant 
intersegment revenue.

The key parameters for evaluating and managing 
a segment’s results of operations are: earnings 
before interest and taxes (EBIT) and the operating 
EBIT derived from it (EUR 7,162 thousand; previous 
year: EUR 5,472 thousand), adjusted for capitalized 

development costs of EUR 4,512 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 2,786 thousand) and their amor-
tization of EUR 2,699 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 2,981 thousand); depreciation and amortiza-
tion from purchase price allocation of EUR 1,248 
thousand (previous year: EUR 1,245 thousand); 
and staff costs of EUR 100 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 200 thousand). With the exception of 
the write-downs, other income and expense items 
are not regularly reviewed at the segment level by 
the responsible corporate department, given their 
secondary importance to the Group, and thus are 
not broken down by segment.

Geographicalsegments Revenue Fixedassets Additionstofixedassets

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2016
eUR 

(inthsds.)

2015
eUR 

(inthsds.)

Germany 30,586 32,386 22,162 20,876 6,271 4,187

USA 26,837 27,928 26,589 23,634 119 62

Othercountries 23,001 21,992 263 221 155 192

total 80,424 82,306 46,014 44,731 6,545 4,441
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Segment information is based on the same 
accounting principles as the consolidated financial 
statements.

2. SEGMENT ALLOCATION OF PRODUCTS

Industrial Automation
Products and services for integrating communica-
tion functions in automation systems and devices, 
specifically for standards such as PROFIBUS, 
 PROFI NET, EthernetIP, EtherCAT, Powerlink, Mod-
bus, CAN, CANopen, DeviceNet, FOUNDATION 
Fieldbus, (wireless) HART;

Interface cards, integration modules, chip solu-
tions and communications software (stacks) for 
implementing bus links in systems and devices 
used in process and production automation;

Gateways for linking fieldbuses to Ethernet-based 
communication systems and groupwide planning 
and administration systems;

Tools for configuring networks, as well as tool-
kits for integrating configuration functions into 
the engineering systems of automation system 
manufacturers;

Tools and devices for signal and protocol analysis of 
industrial communication networks; and

OPC servers, OPC middleware and development 
tools for OPC Clients and Servers (Toolkits);

Diagnostic devices for Ethernet networks in the 
automation industry and for the diagnosis of 
 copper and optical fiber networks in data centers 
and office installations.

Automotive Electronics
VehicleAdaptersandDataBusinterfaces:
Interfaces for CAN, K-Line, LIN, Ethernet and 
FlexRay data bus systems in different form  factors 
with a variety of PC connections such as USB, 
WLAN, Bluetooth, PCI, PCIexpress, PC/104 and 
PCMCIA. Programming interfaces compliant with 
ISO and other standards as well as customized 
adaptations. Special solutions for development/
testing, production and service.

Diagnostictools:
Diagnostic solutions for development/testing, pro-
duction and service. Editors for diagnostic data. 
Diagnostic servers for the real-time processing of 
diagnostic data based on ISO and customer stan-
dards. Customized and proprietary analytic tools 
for diagnostic data. ODX and OTX solutions play an 
important role in this context.

testAutomation:
Software interfaces for connecting diagnostic serv-
ers to production systems. Editing and runtime 
systems for test sequences with connections to 
numerous third-party products. Customized test 
stations for development, quality assurance and 
production. Solutions for the flash programming 
of control units. Devices for simulating electronic 
control units and rest bus systems.
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CustomizedDevelopments:
Customer-specific software and hardware devel-
opments for data communication/diagnosis/test 
systems.

Residentengineering:
On-site customer support in the form of consulta-
tion, project management and project participa-
tion as well as development activities in the fields 
of data communication, diagnosis, trade fairs and 
test systems.

Measurementtechnology:
 Softing measurement technology (SMT) repre-
sents a unique system whose development was 
driven entirely by automotive developments. This 
results in a broad range of applications for test rigs 
or “raw” mobile applications in vehicle testing. 
Application of this comprehensive measurement 
and automation system is not limited to auto-
motive technology at all; indeed, it is well suited 
for applications in any industrial environment.

3. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows represents the consol-
idated cash flows of the consolidated companies; it 
was determined indirectly. 

The cash and cash equivalents shown in the state-
ment of cash flows comprise cash on hand and 
bank balances.

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE IAS 33

2016 2015

Consolidatedprofit eUR(inthsds.) 5,715 4,479

Minorityinterest eUR(inthsds.) 13 2

Basic earnings (= diluted earnings) EUR (in thsds.) 5,702 4,477

Weightedaveragenumberofshares

Basic Number 6,959,438 6,599,746

Diluted Number 6,959,438 6,599,746

Basicearningspershare eUR 0.82 0.65

Dilutedearningspershare eUR 0.82 0.65

The change in the number of shares outstand-
ing in 2015, which resulted from the sale of treas-
ury shares, was calculated on a pro-rated basis (to 
the day).

No options rights exist as of December 31, 2016, 
which could influence diluted earnings per share 
in the future.
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5. RELATED PARTIES

Besides the companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements, the members of the 
Executive Board and of the Supervisory Board are 
considered related parties of the  Softing Group as 
defined in IAS 24, both in their function as mem-
bers of corporate boards and, in some cases, as 
shareholders.

We refer to chapters E 10 and 11 for information 
regarding the remuneration of the Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Board.

The Chairman of the Company’s Executive 
Board, Dr. Wolfgang Trier, held 112,716 shares in 

 Softing AG as of December 31, 2016 (previous 
year: 91,000).

The Executive Board member Ernst Homolka held 
1,800 shares in  Softing AG as of December 31, 
2016 (previous year: 1,300 shares).

The Supervisory Board member, Dr. Klaus Fuchs, 
held 278,820 shares in  Softing AG as of December 
31, 2016 (previous year: 278,820).

The Supervisory Board member, Andreas Kratzer, 
held 10,155 shares in  Softing AG as of Decem-
ber 31, 2016 (previous year: 10,155).

6. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of the balance sheet date,  Softing AG has 
provided EUR 11,712 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 11,684 thousand) in guarantees for liabilities 
related to bank overdraft lines of credit. The prob-
ability of any outflow of funds in connection with 

these guarantees is regarded as remote because 
the creditworthiness of the debtors is ensured. 
The guarantees were provided in connection with 
the loan taken out by operating Group companies 
for the acquisition of OLDI.

7. OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

As of the balance sheet date, the Company had 
incurred purchase commitments in the amount 
of EUR 2,995 thousand under long-term contracts 
(previous year: EUR 3,735 thousand).

There were also liabilities under long-term rental 
and lease agreements. These liabilities stem pri-
marily from contracts related to buildings, pas-
senger cars and office equipment. The minimum 
amounts of undiscounted future payments as of 
the balance sheet date are as follows:

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

<1year 1,453 1,439

1–5years 2,696 3,522

>5years 0 0

total 4,149 4,961
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8. DISCLOSURE OF THE CARRYING AMOUNTS  
oF the inDiViDual categorieS oF 
Financial inStrumentS accorDing  
to iFrS 7

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The following table shows both the carrying 
amounts and the fair values of all financial instru-
ments recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements that fall within the scope of IFRS 7. The 
fair values correspond to the carrying amounts 

because, with the exception of cash, the financial 
instruments recognized almost solely comprise pri-
mary current receivables and liabilities. As in the 
previous year, there were no financial instruments 
as of December 31, 2016, for which IFRS 7 is not 
applicable.

eUR(inthsds.)
Carryingamount 
Dec.31,2016

Amortized 
cost

Fairvaluethrough
profitorloss

Fairvalue 
Dec.31,2016

Current financial assets

tradereceivables 11,742 11,742 11,742

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts 848 848 848

Other current financial assets

Cashandcashequivalents 10,867 10,867 10,867

Non-current financial liabilities

long-termborrowings 6,595 6,596 5,941 5,941

Current financial liabilities

tradepayables 4,840 4,840 4,840

Short-termborrowings 2,660 2,660 2,722 2,722

Currentfinancialliabilities 3,443 3,443 3,443

eUR(inthsds.)
Carryingamount 
Dec.31,2015

Amortized 
cost

Fairvaluethrough
profitorloss

Fairvalue 
Dec.31,2015

Current financial assets

tradereceivables 14,976 14,976 14,976

Receivablesfromcustomer-specificconstructioncontracts 431 431 431

Other current financial assets

Otherfinancialreceivables 124 124 124

Cashandcashequivalents 9,186 9,186 9,186

Non-current financial liabilities

long-termborrowings 7,480 7,480 6,889 6,889

Current financial liabilities

tradepayables 5,698 5,698 5,698

Short-termborrowings 1,737 1,737 1714 1,714

Currentfinancialliabilities 3,787 3,787 3,787
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For information on the measurement categories 
of financial instruments, please refer to the list of 
classes of financial instruments in B12.

No further disclosures on the fair value have to be 
made pursuant to IFRS 7.29a if the carrying amount 
is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at fair value are allocated to the following levels of 
the fair value hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs). 

• Observable inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
(Level 2 inputs). 

• Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 
(Level 3 inputs).

The current and non-current purchase price liabili-
ties in the other non-current liabilities and current 
financial liabilities items are assigned to Level 3. 
The fair value of the contingent consideration was 
determined based on the forecast revenue and 
EBIT of the acquisitions adjusted for the likelihood 
of occurrence. A change in input factors within the 
range of alternative assumptions considered pos-
sible does not result in any meaningful change in 
the fair values. 

9. OBJECTIVES AND METHODS OF 
Financial riSk management

 Softing AG’s capital management aims first and 
foremost at ensuring that the Company maintains 
a solid equity ratio to support its business activi-
ties. The Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments, allowing for changes in eco-
nomic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital 
structure, the Group may make repayments of cap-
ital to its shareholders or issue new shares. There 
were no changes in the objectives, guidelines and 
procedures as of December 31, 2016, and Decem-
ber 31, 2015.

The Group monitors its capital using the equity 
ratio. But the Executive Board does not define a 
specific target to that end. The equity ratio in the 
financial year was 57 % (previous year: 51 %).

The capital of  Softing AG relevant for controlling 
purposes encompasses the subscribed capital, the 
capital reserves, the retained earnings, the equity 
from unrealized gains and losses, treasury shares 
and non-controlling interests.  Softing AG funds the 
development of its business to the greatest extent 
possible from its own cash flow.

As an internationally operating company,  Softing 
is exposed to a variety of risks in the course of its 
operations. Therefore, the objective of its financial 
risk management is to detect all material financial 
risks early on and to take appropriate measures to 
protect existing and future success potential.
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These risks include currency risks resulting from 
activities in different currency regions; default 
risks involving non-fulfillment of contractual obli-
gations by contracting parties; interest rate risks, 
where fluctuations in the market interest rate trig-
ger changes in the fair value of a financial instru-
ment; and interest-related cash flow risks that 
trigger changes in the future cash flow of a finan-
cial instrument because of changes in market 
interest rates.

To evaluate and take into account such risks, 
 Softing has defined principles through a central-
ized risk management system that serve to identify 
and evaluate such risks consistently and system-
atically. Continual reporting is used by  Softing to 
check compliance with all principles. This enables 
the Company to identify and analyze risks early on.

There are no major concentrations of risk in the 
Group.

Please also see the disclosures on risks and oppor-
tunities in the management report.

Default Risks
 Softing is exposed to default risks if contractual 
partners fail to meet their obligations. To avoid of 
risks of this nature,  Softing enters into contracts 
only with contractual partners that have an excel-
lent credit rating. As of the closing dates of Decem-
ber 31, 2016, and December 31, 2015, there was 
no material counterparty credit risk. While the 
Executive Board therefore believes the risk of 

non-fulfillment on the part of its contractual part-
ners to be very low, it cannot completely exclude 
the risk in the final analysis.

Counterparty credit risks primarily concern trade 
receivables. Valuation allowances are recognized 
to allow for any discernable counterparty credit 
risks in connection with individual financial assets. 
Valuation allowances as of December 31, 2016, 
totaled EUR 295 thousand (previous year: EUR 294 
thousand).

Regardless of any existing collateral, the carrying 
amount of financial assets equals the maximum 
counterparty credit risk if the contractual partners 
fail to meet their payment obligations.

Interest Rate Risks
 Softing is also exposed to interest rate risks. The 
assets subject to interest rate fluctuations essen-
tially concern cash and cash equivalents and secu-
rities classified as current assets. Bank balances 
totaling EUR 10,867 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 9,186 thousand) bear interest of 0.00 % (pre-
vious year: 0.00 %). No material interest rate risks 
result from subsidiaries’ liabilities to banks in the 
amount of EUR 9,256 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 9,190 thousand) because they can be con-
verted into fixed-interest loans at any time.

An increase of the market interest rate by 50 basis 
points would have an impact of EUR 40 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 40 thousand) on interest 
expense relating to the loan.
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Foreign Currency Risk
The  Softing Group’s foreign currency risk is lim-
ited to two currencies: USD and RON. The for-
eign currency risk relating to US dollars is hedged   
naturally, because in the United States and in 
Singa pore (where US dollars are the functional 
currency), income and expenses are generated/
incurred for products. The foreign currency risk 

associated with the Romanian RON is minimal 
because this currency is linked to the euro, and the 
agreements with the Romanian subsidiary stipu-
late euros.

All foreign currency forwards had been settled as 
of the reporting date. The following sensitivities 
apply with regard to USD:

In EUR (in thsds.)/USD USD

Closing rate: USD 1.05
1.16 

+10 %
0.95 

–10 %
Difference Difference

Financial assets/liabilities uSD uSD in eur +10 % –10 %

tradereceivables 3,569 3,385 3,078 3,762 –308 376

Receivablesfromaffiliatedcompanies 3,311 3,141 2,855 3,490 –286 349

Other current assets 148 140 127 156 –13 16

Cashandcashequivalents 5,854 5,554 5,049 6,171 –505 617

Non-currentliabilitiestoaffiliatedcompanies –21,457 –20,356 –18,506 –22,618 1,851 –2,262

Currentliabilitiestoaffiliatedcompanies –6,752 –6,406 –5,823 –7,117 582 –712

total –15,327 14,542 1,322 –1,616

Any movement in the USD :  EUR exchange rate 
would be reflected only in the equity of the  Softing 
Group.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might 
not have adequate funds to fulfill its payment 
obligations.

The Group’s liquidity requirements are met primar-
ily through its operating business.  Softing AG con-
tinuously monitors the risk of a potential liquidity 
bottleneck using its liquidity planning. The Group’s 

goal is to continue meeting its liquidity require-
ments through its own cash flow.

The Group possesses sufficient liquidity and 
unused credit lines in the amount of EUR 6,000 
thousand to meet its obligations over the next four 
years in line with its strategic plans. For disclosures 
on maturities, please see section C.

Cash and cash equivalents at year’s end were 
EUR 10,867 thousand (previous year: EUR 9,186 
thousand), accounting for 13.0 % (previous year: 
11.1 %) of the Group’s total assets. 
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The following table shows the financial liabilities 
of the Group by maturity classes based on the 
remaining life as of the reporting date and based 

on the contractually agreed maturity. The amounts 
shown in the table are not discounted cash flows.

Dec.31,2016 
eUR(inthsds.)

Upto1year 2 – 5years More than 5 years

Non-current financial liabilities

long-termborrowings 6,596

Current financial liabilities

tradepayables 4,856

Short-termborrowings 2,660

Dec.31,2015 
eUR(inthsds.)

Upto1year 2 – 5years More than 5 years

Non-current financial liabilities

long-termborrowings 7,480

Current financial liabilities

tradepayables 5,698

Short-termborrowings 1,737

10. PERSONNEL

The number of employees (exclusively salaried 
employees) excluding the Executive Board was as 
follows:

2016 2015

Asofthebalancesheetdate 435 435

Annualaverage 430 429

Marketing&Sales 116 113

Research&Development 265 264

Administration&General 39 39

Management 10 13
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11. EXECUTIVE BOARD

The following persons were members of the Exec-
utive Board of  Softing AG in the reporting period:

Dr.-Ing. Dr. rer. oec. Wolfgang Trier, Munich, Ger-
many, Chairman 

Mr. Ernst Homolka, Munich, Germany, Executive 
Board member for Finance and Human Resources

Remuneration of the Executive Board amounted 
to EUR 2,513 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,533 
thousand). Of this amount, fixed remuneration 
accounts for about one third and variable remu-
neration for two thirds. In accordance with the 
resolution adopted by the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting on May 9, 2012, the remuneration of 
individual members of the Executive Board is not 
disclosed. All remuneration paid to the Executive 
Board members is of a current nature. Further-
more, service cost of EUR 125 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 125 thousand) was recognized.

The Executive Board member also holds the Com-
pany’s key central positions.

An agreement with one member of the Executive 
Board gives him the right to terminate his employ-
ment for cause if at least one outside share-
holder or one shareholder group acting in concert 
reaches 1.4 million voting shares through posses-
sion or attribution. If this Executive Board member 
exercises this right to terminate his employment 
for cause, he is entitled to compensation equaling 
approximately two annual salaries.

Pension obligations for former members of the 
Executive Board as of December 31, 2016 totaled 
EUR 3,060 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,983 
thousand). The total remuneration of former mem-
bers of the Executive Board amounted to EUR 168 
thousand (previous year: EUR 168 thousand).

12. SUPERVISORY BOARD

The following persons were members of the 
Supervisory Board of  Softing AG in the 2016 finan-
cial year:

Dr. Horst Schiessl, attorney at law, Munich, 
 Germany (chairman)
Dr. Klaus Fuchs, graduate computer scientist und 
graduate engineer, Helfant, Germany (deputy 
chairman) 
Andreas Kratzer, certified public accountant, 
Zurich, Switzerland

Dr. Schiessl is also a member of the supervi-
sory board and advisory board of the following 
companies:
Baader Bank AG, Unterschleißheim (chairman)
Dussmann Stiftung & Co. KGaA, Berlin (member of 
the Supervisory Board)
Dussmann Stiftung, Berlin (member of the founda-
tion council)
Dussmann Stiftung & Co. KG, Berlin, Germany 
(member of the advisory board) 
Mittelstandswerk Deutschland AG (chairman)
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eUR(inthsds.) Fixed Variable Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Dr.horstSchiessl(Chairman) 20 20 69 61 89 81

Dr.KlausFuchs 15 15 52 46 67 61

AndreasKratzer 10 10 34 30 44 40

Dr. Fuchs did not hold any offices on other super-
visory boards. 

Mr. Andreas Kratzer is also a member of the Board 
of Directors of:
Accu Holding AG, Emmen, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Oerlikon Stationär Batterien AG, Emmen, Switzer-
land (Board of Directors)
RCT Hydraulic-Tooling AG, Klus, Switzerland (Board 
of Directors)
SIAT-Swiss Investment & Trade Group AG, Buchs, 
Switzerland (Board of Directors)
Apollo Consulting & Trading AG, Zollikon, Switzer-
land (Board of Directors)
Mobil Power AG, Zurich, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Bubo-Immobilien AG, Zurich, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Lysys AG Baar, Switzerland (Board of Directors) 
Immoselect AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
DGG International AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Biotensidon International AG, Baar, Switzerland 
(Board of Directors)
Weinmann Invest AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)

Each member of the Supervisory Board receives 
a fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000 for each full 
financial year of service on the Supervisory Board. 
In addition, each member receives variable remu-
neration amounting to 0.5 % of Group EBIT before 
variable Supervisory Board remuneration. The 
chairman receives 200 % of the fixed and variable 
amount, the deputy chairman 150 %.

The Supervisory Board member Dr. Fuchs received 
a total fee of EUR 147 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 120 thousand) for providing consulting serv-
ices in connection with the integration of  Softing 
IT Networks.

Compensation for the members of the Super visory 
Board in the reporting period totaled EUR 200 
thousand (previous year: EUR 182 thousand) and 
is comprised as follows:
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13. AUDITOR’S FEES

The following expenditure (including expenses) 
was incurred in the financial year just ended for 

services provided by the auditor, Pricewater-
houseCoopers GmbH:

2016
eUR(inthsds.)

2015
eUR(inthsds.)

Auditofannualfinancialstatements 110 105

Otherservices 9 5

119 110

14. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no events after the balance sheet date 
to report.

15. DECLARATION REGARDING THE 
german corporate goVernance coDe 
purSuant to Section 161 german Stock 
corporation act

The Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec-
tion 161 German Stock Corporation Act was issued 
by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
of  Softing AG and has been made permanently 
available to shareholders on the Internet at www. 
softing.com.

Haar, Germany, March 16, 2017

 Softing AG

The Executive Board

Dr. Wolfgang Trier Ernst Homolka
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We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments – comprising the consolidated balance 
sheet, consolidated income statement, consoli-
dated statement of comprehensive income, con-
solidated statement of changes in equity, consol-
idated cash flow statement and the consolidated 
notes – as well as the Group management report 
of  Softing AG, which has been combined with the 
Company’s management report, for the financial 
year from January 1 to December 31, 2016. The 
preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the combined management report 
in accordance with IFRSs as applicable in the EU 
and the supplementary provisions that are appli-
cable under Section 315a para 1 German Com-
mercial Code (HGB) are the responsibility of the 
Company’s Executive Board. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion, based on our audit, on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the com-
bined management report. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with Section 317 
German Commercial Code and the German stan-
dards for the proper audit of financial statements 
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit such that misstatements mate-
rially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable financial reporting framework 
and in the combined management report are 
detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge 
of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the Group and evaluations of 
possible misstatements are taken into account in 
the determination of audit procedures. The effec-
tiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclos-
ures in the consolidated financial statements and 

the combined management report are examined 
primarily on a test basis within the framework of 
the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual 
financial statements of the companies included in 
the consolidated financial statements, the deter-
mination of the companies to be included in the 
consolidated financial statements, the accounting 
and consolidation principles used and significant 
estimates made by the Executive Board as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the con-
solidated financial statements and the combined 
management report. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any objections.

In our opinion, which is based on the findings of 
the audit, the consolidated financial statements 
are in compliance with IFRS as applicable in the 
EU and with the supplementary provisions appli-
cable under Section 315a para 1 German Commer-
cial Code, and in accordance with these provisions 
give a true and fair view of the net assets, finan-
cial position and results of the operations of the 
Group. The combined management report is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with legal requirements, as a whole pro-
vides a suitable understanding of the Group’s posi-
tion and suitably presents the opportunities and 
risks of future development.

Munich, Germany, March 16, 2017

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Stefano Mulas ppa. Christoph Tübbing
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

Auditors’Opinion



RePORtOFtheSUPeRViSORyBOARD

ReportoftheSupervisoryBoard
for Financial Year 2016

The Supervisory Board of  Softing AG carried out 
its duties as provided by law and the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation in financial year 2016. 
The Supervisory Board regularly advised the 
Execu tive Board in matters of management and 
diligently monitored its actions. The Supervisory 
Board was informed regularly about the situation 
of  Softing AG and the Group and monitored and 
accompanied the work of the Executive Board as 
well as compliance with applicable legal provisions 
and the Company’s internal guidelines. The Execu-
tive Board informed the Supervisory Board in writ-
ing and orally about the business policies, funda-
mental questions of future business activities, the 
economic situation and future strategic develop-
ment, the risk situation and risk management as 
well as significant business transactions, and dis-
cussed these matters with the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board was involved in decisions of 
material significance at all times. 

A total of 4 Supervisory Board meetings were held 
in the 2016 financial year: 
on March 17, May 4, September 28 and Decem-
ber 21. 

The regular deliberations during Supervisory Board 
meetings and between the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board focused on the organiza-
tional and strategic development and orientation 
of the Group, the positioning and financial devel-
opment of  Softing AG, and significant business 
events for the Company. Between meetings, the 
Supervisory Board was also informed of plans and 
developments that were of particular importance. 
The Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed, dis-
cussed and approved all matters which require 
approval under legal provisions and the Articles of 
Incorporation or the Rules of Procedure.

Furthermore, in regular discussions with the 
Execu tive Board, the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board obtained information about important deci-
sions and business transactions of special signifi-
cance. He also held separate discussions with the 
Executive Board on strategy to explore the per-
spectives for and future alignment of each individ-
ual business.

Our deliberations and reviews focused on the 
entire accounting system of  Softing AG and the 
Group, the monitoring of the internal control sys-
tem as well as the effectiveness of the internal 
auditing and risk management system. 

main FocuS oF the meetingS
At the Supervisory Board meeting on March 17, 
2017, the Supervisory Board dealt with the Com-
pany’s performance in the 2016 financial year and 
with risks related, for example, to defaults among 
key suppliers and customers. Another key item on 
the agenda at the Supervisory Board meeting was 
the adoption of the annual financial statements 
and the approval of the consolidated financial 
statements, both as of December 31, 2016, after 
the auditor, who was present, had reported on the 
completed audit and extensively answered ques-
tions by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board concurred with the Executive Board’s pro-
posal for the appropriation of profits. At this meet-
ing, the Supervisory Board also carried out the effi-
ciency review recommended by the German Cor-
porate Governance Code. The Supervisory Board 
came to the conclusion that its work was efficient. 
It also approved the Agenda for the 2017 General 
Shareholders’ Meeting.
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In the Supervisory Board meeting on May 4, 2017 
after the General Shareholders’ Meeting there 
was a recapitulation of the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting and a report of the Executive Board on the 
status of and outlook on operations. Furthermore, 
Dr. Fuchs reported on the status quo at  Softing 
Singapore Pte. Ltd., and the Executive Board pre-
sented the risk report as of March 31, 2016.

On September 28, 2016, the Executive Board pre-
sented data and background information on the 
business figures for the first half-year and the finan-
cial planning at the Supervisory Board meeting. 
The Supervisory Board obtained a detailed report 
from the Executive Board on the development of 
business in the past first months. The Executive 
Board presented possible avenues for integrating 
the operating business of samtec in the Automo-
tive segment. The possibility of future acquisitions 
was also discussed.

At the Supervisory Board meeting held on Decem-
ber 21, 2016, the Executive Board presented to 
the Supervisory Board a first estimate of the 2016 
annual results, its business plan for 2017 and its 
multi-year planning. After careful review, the 
Supervisory Board approved the two plans. In this 
meeting, the Supervisory Board also addressed the 
recommendations of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code and the topic of diversity in detail. 
The Supervisory Board adopted the resolution 
required in this context. It approved the Declara-
tion of Compliance with the German Corporate 
Governance Code, which it had prepared jointly 
with the Executive Board; it is permanently avail-
able to the public at the Company’s website. The 
Executive Board presented the half-yearly risk 
report as of September 30, 2016, and the annual 
review of the remuneration system took place.

All members of the Supervisory Board attended all 
Supervisory Board meetings in 2016. There was no 
conflict of interest of members of the Supervisory 
Board in the financial year just ended. The inde-
pendence of the financial expert on the Super-
visory Board was monitored on an ongoing basis 
and is assured. 

compoSition oF the SuperViSory 
boarD anD the executiVe boarD
There were no personnel changes on the Super-
visory Board in the 2016 financial year. In the 
reporting year, the Supervisory Board was again 
comprise of Dr. Horst Schiessl (Chairman), Dr. Klaus 
Fuchs (Deputy Chairman) and Mr. Andreas Kratzer. 
The Supervisory Board did not establish any com-
mittees, given its size. Instead, the full Supervisory 
Board was responsible for all tasks and decisions.

annual Financial StatementS anD 
conSoliDateD Financial StatementS 
The annual financial statements of  Softing AG were 
prepared in accordance with the German Commer-
cial Code and the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report were prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRSs). The annual financial state-
ments and the management report of  Softing AG, 
and the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report as of December 31, 
2016, were audited as required by law by Price-
waterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschafts prüfungs-
gesellschaft, Munich, Germany, the auditors 
appointed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 
The auditors issued an unqualified auditor’s opin-
ion each for the annual financial statements and 
the consolidated financial statements. The  auditors 
performed an audit in accordance with Section 
317 para 4 German Commercial Code and came 



to the conclusion that the Executive Board estab-
lished a monitoring system which fulfills the legal 
requirements for the early detection of risks jeop-
ardizing the Company’s existence as a going con-
cern and that the Executive Board took appropri-
ate measures to detect developments at an early 
stage and avert risks.

The auditors stated their independence vis-à-vis 
the Supervisory Board as required by the German 
Corporate Governance Code and disclosed the 
audit and consulting fees received in the financial 
year. 

The annual financial statements and the audit 
reports of the auditors were made available in time 
to all members of the Supervisory Board. At its 
financials meeting on March 16, 2017, the Super-
visory Board examined the annual financial state-
ments and the management report of  Softing AG 
as well as the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report presented by 
the Executive Board including the audit report pre-
pared by the auditors of the financial statements. 
The auditors and the Executive Board participated 
in the meeting.

The auditors reported on their audit in general as 
well as on individual focal points and the significant 
results of their audit. They answered the questions 
raised by the members of the Supervisory Board 
in detail. The Supervisory Board approved the 
result of the audit. There was no reason to raise 
any objections based on the final result of this 
examination. 

The Supervisory Board approved the annual finan-
cial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements for 2016 at its meeting on March 16, 
2017. The annual financial statements are there-
fore formally adopted. The Supervisory Board 
agreed with the appropriation of the net retained 
profits proposed by the Executive Board.

thank you
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the 
Execu tive Board and all employees for their 
extraordinary efforts and their excellent work in 
the past financial year. 

Haar, Germany, March 16, 2017

Dr. Horst Schiessl

Chairman

RePORtOFtheSUPeRViSORyBOARD
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The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
of  Softing AG support many suggestions and rules 
of the German Corporate Governance Code and 
declare that they were and will be in compliance 
in the future with the recommendations regard-
ing conduct contained in the Code’s current and 
applicable version in the 2016 financial year, taking 
into account the exceptions and comments listed 
below. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
issued the Declaration of Compliance in December 
2016. Below, the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board disclose and explain any deviations 
from the Code. You can download the full text of 
the Code from the Investor Relations section of our 
website at www.softing.com.

1.  Softing AG (hereinafter: the Company) will 
comply with the recommendations of the Ger-
man  Corporate Governance Code, as amended on 
May 5, 2015, with the following exceptions:

a. the executive Board’s duties to inform and
reporttotheSupervisoryBoardarenotspeci-
fiedingreaterdetail(Section3.4para1sen-
tence3oftheCode).
The Supervisory Board has not specified the 
Executive Board’s duties to inform and report 
in greater detail because the Executive Board 
is already legally obligated to regularly inform 
the Supervisory Board about all material busi-
ness transactions without delay. In addition, 
the Supervisory Board has not had any reason 
to find fault with the Executive Board’s infor-
mation policy to date.

b. the Company currently has not agreed a
deductible for theD&O insurance takenout
onbehalfofthemembersof itsSupervisory
Board(Section3.8para3oftheCode).
The Company does not believe that such a 
deductible could enhance the motivation and 
responsibility of the members of the Com-
pany’s Supervisory Board in carrying out their 
duties.

CorporateGovernanceReport

c. theCompanydoesnotmaintainDeclarations
of Compliance with the German Corporate
GovernanceCodeatitswebsiteforfiveyears
(Section3.10sentence3oftheCode).
It does not believe that it is necessary to store 
non-current Declarations of Compliance with 
the German Corporate Governance Code on 
its website for five years. Such postings do not 
offer new information relevant to the capital 
market.

d. No considerationwas given to the relation-
ship between the remuneration of senior
management and the staff overall, when
determiningtheremunerationfortheexecu-
tiveBoard(Section4.2.2para2sentence3of
theCode)
Section 4.2.2 para 2 sentence 3 of the Code 
recommends that the Supervisory Board con-
sider the relationship between the remunera-
tion of the Executive Board and that of senior 
management and the relevant staff overall, 
particularly in terms of its development over 
time. When the current director’s contracts 
of the Executive Board members were con-
cluded, the Supervisory Board ensured – in 
compliance with the requirements of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act – that the overall 
remuneration appropriately reflects the tasks 
and performance of the respective Executive 
Board member and does not exceed what is 
a customary level of remuneration. Using the 
customary calculation method, the determi-
nation of the Executive Board’s remuneration 
was oriented on the Company’s scope of busi-
ness, its economic and financial position and 
the structure of the Executive Board remu-
neration in place at comparable com panies. 
Furthermore, consideration was given to the 
individual tasks and scope of responsibili-
ties of the respective Executive Board mem-
ber. To the extent that the Code, as amended, 
specifies reviewing the vertical appropriate-
ness of Executive Board remuneration, which 



is required by the German Stock Corporation 
Act, and provides a more detailed definition 
of both the peer groups relevant for compari-
son and the time period to which such a com-
parison applies, the Company as a precaution 
declares that it deviates from the Code. When 
reviewing vertical appropriateness, the Super-
visory Board did not distinguish between the 
peer groups of the Code recommendation and 
did not collect any data regarding the develop-
ment over time of the wage and salary struc-
ture, either.

e. Severancepaymentcap(Section4.2.3para4
andpara5oftheCode)
There are no plans to establish a severance 
payment cap. In the Supervisory Board’s view, 
however, the extant provisions in the direc-
tor’s contracts of the Executive Board mem-
bers comply with the adequacy requirements 
such that it does not see any need to amend 
them. Stipulating a severance payment cap 
also contradicts the fundamental principle 
that director’s contracts are generally closed 
for the term of the appointment and can-
not be terminated, in principle, except for 
cause. Early termination of a director’s con-
tract absent cause requires that it be mutually 
rescinded by the parties thereto. Even if a sev-
erance payment cap were stipulated, any such 
stipulation would not preclude including the 
severance payment cap in the negotiations at 
the time the given Executive Board member 
steps down.

f. DiversityintheexecutiveBoard(Section5.1.2
para1sent.2oftheCode)
When appointing the members of the Execu-
tive Board, the Supervisory Board cannot also 
respect diversity because the Company cur-
rently has only two Executive Board members. 
Given that the Executive Board comprises 
just two members – a number the Company 
believes to be adequate and whose posi-
tions will be filled for the foreseeable future 
– the recommendations in the Code to aim for 

diversity do not appear feasible for the time 
being. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board 
does not consider it appropriate to select Exec-
utive Board members based on criteria such as 
gender, orientation, or race, but instead to rely 
on personality and expertise. 

g. the Supervisory Board has not set up any
committees(Sections5.3.1,5.3.2,5.3.3ofthe
Code).
Given the size of the Supervisory Board (three 
members), setting up committees is not con-
sidered necessary.

h. Noagelimithasbeenspecifiedformembers
of the executive Board and the Supervisory
Board(Section5.1.2para2sent.3andSec-
tion5.4.1para2oftheCode).
A specific age limit could be an undesired cri-
terion to exclude qualified members of the 
Executive Board or the Supervisory Board. 

i. Specification of concrete objectives regard-
ingthecompositionoftheSupervisoryBoard
(section5.4.1para2and3oftheCode).
The Company’s Supervisory Board will not 
specify any concrete objectives regarding 
its composition. Up to now, the Supervisory 
Board has exclusively based its proposals for 
the nomination of Supervisory Board mem-
bers on the suitability of the male and female 
candidates with the aim of creating a Super-
visory Board whose members as a group pos-
sess the knowledge, skills and professional 
experience required to properly complete its 
tasks. The Supervisory Board firmly believes 
that this approach works, which is why it does 
not see any need to change this practice. In 
particular, the Company does not intend to 
implement the recommendation to set a regu-
lar limit of length of membership introduced 
with the new version of the Code as amended 
on May 5, 2015, because as a rule, the Com-
pany wishes to have access to the expertise 
of experienced Supervisory Board members 
as well. The Supervisory Board does not con-
sider a predetermined limit for the maximum 

CORPORAteGOVeRNANCe
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period of service appropriate, since the term 
of office for Supervisory Board members stip-
ulated in the law and Articles of Incorpora-
tion provide for a reasonable period for Super-
visory Board mandates. Since the Supervisory 
Board accordingly does not set specific tar-
gets regarding its composition, the recom-
mendations in Section 5.4.1 para 3 can not be 
followed.

j. independence of Supervisory Board mem-
bers(Section5.4.2oftheCode)
The Supervisory Board believes that all current 
members of the Supervisory Board are inde-
pendent in terms of the criteria mentioned 
in the German Corporate Governance Code. 
Nevertheless, the Company does not believe 
that it would make sense to introduce restric-
tions for the future by determining a number 
of dependent or independent members.

k. elections to the Supervisory Board are not
carriedoutonan individualbasis.thecourt
appointmentofSupervisoryBoardmembers
isnot limited intimeuntil thenextGeneral
Shareholders’Meeting (Section 5.4.3 of the
Code).
The Company reserves the right to elect the 
Supervisory Board en bloc. The Company does 
not believe that time limits are appropriate 
when it is absolutely necessary to fill or refill 
positions on the Supervisory Board.

l. Performance-related compensation shall be
oriented toward sustainable growth of the
enterprise(Section5.4.6para2sent.2ofthe
Code)
In addition to fixed remuneration, the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board also receive 
performance-related remuneration based on 
consolidated EBIT before taking into account 
the Supervisory Board’s variable remunera-
tion. The Company’s Articles of Incorpora-
tion thus do not expressly require orienta-
tion toward sustainable growth of the enter-
prise. The Company continues to believe that 
basing performance-related remuneration 

on consolidated EBIT of the respective finan-
cial year is a sensible approach. Consolidated 
EBIT is a key performance indicator. Further-
more, no generally accepted model for basing 
the compensation of Supervisory Board mem-
bers on a company’s sustainable development 
has established itself in the capital markets to 
date. For the time being, the Company will 
continue to monitor the situation.

m. theSupervisoryBoarddoesnotdiscussquar-
terlyorhalf-yearlyfinancialreportswiththe
executiveBoardpriortopublication(Section
7.1.2sent.2oftheCode).
The Company believes that a separate discus-
sion of the reports is not necessary because 
the Supervisory Board is informed regularly of 
all relevant business transactions. 

2. Since the publication of its most recent Declara-
tion of Compliance in December 2014,  Softing AG 
has generally been in compliance with the recom-
mendations contained in the German Corporate 
Governance Code as amended on May 5, 2015. 
The Company has not observed the following rec-
ommendations: Section 3.4 para 1 sentence 3; 
Section 3.8 para 3; Section 3.10, sentence 3; Sec-
tion 4.2.2 para 2 sentence 3; Section 4.2.3 paras 
4 and 5; Section 5.1.2 para 1 sentence 2; Section 
5.3.1; Section 5.3.2; Section 5.3.3; Section 5.1.2 
para 2 sentence 3; Section 5.4.1 paras 2 and 3; Sec-
tion 5.4.2; Section 5.4.3; Section 5.4.6 para 2 sen-
tence 2; and Section 7.1.2 sentence 2. 

Please see the explanations under no. 1 for the 
reasons for not observing the recommendations 
of the Code stated under no. 2.

Remuneration for the active members of the 
Supervisory Board in the 2016 financial year is pre-
sented in the notes of the 2016 annual report. 

Disclosures regarding directors’ dealings pursu-
ant to Section 15a German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG) are published in the Investor Relations 
section of our website at www.softing.com.
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corporate boarDS anD
DirectorS’ holDingS

Boards Shares Options

Sep.30,2016
Number

Dec.31,2016
Number

Sep.30,2016
Number

Dec.31,2016
Number

Supervisory board

Dr.horstSchiessl(chairman),attorneyatlaw,Munich – – – –

Dr.KlausFuchs(member),graduatecomputerscientistand
graduateengineer,helfant

278,820 278,820 – –

AndreasKratzer(member),certifiedpublicaccountant,Zurich, 
Switzerland

10,155 10,155 – –

Executive Board

Dr.-ing.Dr.rer.oec.Wolfgangtrier,Munich 112,716 112,716 – –

ernsthomolka,München 1,300 1,800 – –

Financial calenDar

March 23, 2017 Annual Report 2016
May 02, 2017 Interim Management Statement Q1/2017
May 03, 2017 General Shareholders’ Meeting 2017
August 14, 2017 Half-yearly Report 2017
November 02, 2017 Interim Management Statement Q3/2017
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